The role of soil reconstruction and soil amendments in forest reclamation

by

Jana Bockstette

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Land Reclamation and Remediation

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Jana Bockstette, 2018

Abstract

The physical and chemical properties associated with different soil materials are arguably the most important factor affecting early seedling growth and survival as they determine the amount of rooting space, nutrients and water available to planted seedlings. The likelihood of successful reforestation after severe anthropogenic disturbances, such as those caused by surface mining, depend heavily on the quality and quantity of available soil materials, which are likely to differ significantly from site to site. In some cases, there may be an opportunity to salvage high quality soil materials as part of the ongoing mining operations and later use these materials to construct a suitable growing medium for reforestation. In other cases, such materials may not be readily available in which case externally sourced soil amendments may offer a way to improve soil conditions to the point where planted seedlings can be supplied with sufficient water and nutrients to ensure successful establishment. However, given the variety of available soil materials and amendments, as well the varying requirements associated with different tree species, it is important to understand how and when to use these materials in forest land reclamation. For my thesis, I conducted two field experiments to test the effects of (1) different soil materials and placement techniques and (2) different soil amendments on soil properties as well as growth and establishment of three important boreal forest species, trembling aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.), jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and white spruce (Picea glauca (Moench) Voss.). The results of my first study revealed that the topsoil material type (e.g. peat from a lowland and forest floor material (FFM) from an upland forest site) and application thickness (e.g. 30 cm peat vs. 10 cm peat) were the main drivers for the observed differences in seedling growth, while subsoil layer and total capping thickness had only limited effects on

ii

seedling growth at this early stage (three years) of reforestation. The persistently low soil temperature associated with the 30 cm peat thickness was likely the main cause for poor seedling growth performance as low soil temperatures can interfere with physiological function such as root growth and water and nutrient uptake. Due to different nutrient requirements and differences in nutrient availabilities among soil materials all planted species revealed nutrient deficiencies on both topsoil material types, although the form of nutrient deficiency varied by species. In my second study I found that fertilization with a slow release fertilizer increased seedling height after three growing seasons. However, neither the addition of biochar to the soil nor the combination of biochar and fertilizer resulted in the expected beneficial effects on seedling growth. The addition of biochar reduced the amount of plant available nitrate, while it marginally increased soil moisture and thus might have contributed to the lower observed seedling mortality. In combination, my experiments showed that adding salvaged soil materials with a high organic matter content or organic matter rich soil amendments can be a tool to improve soil conditions and thus promote the successful establishment of planted tree seedlings. However, my findings also highlight the need to understand the different requirements associated with different tree species and the respective physical and chemical soil properties associated with each material so that they can be applied in adequate amounts to ensure fast seedling growth and low mortality.

Preface

The following thesis is an original work, with data being collected and analyzed by Jana Bockstette. No part of this thesis has been previously published.

The first experiment "AURORA soil capping study" was part of a research collaborative between Syncrude Canada Ltd. and researches of the University of Alberta. The measurements regarding seedling height, survival, biomass and foliar nutrient concentrations were collected and statistically analyzed by myself. The measurements regarding soil properties (soil temperature, soil water content, soil nutrients) were collected by NorthWind Land Resources Inc. and statistically analyzed by myself. Parts of Chapter 2 "Rebuilding soils and forests: Soil capping materials, thickness and arrangement affect seedling development on an upland boreal forest reclamation site" have been presented in an oral presentation at the Mine Closure 2015 conference in Vancouver, BC, Canada.

The second experiment "Whitewood coal mine reclamation project" was part of a research collaborative between TransAlta Corp. and researchers of the University of Alberta. The measurements regarding seedling height, survival, biomass and foliar nutrient concentrations, soil water content and soil nutrient availability in 2013 were collected and statistically analyzed by myself. The measurements regarding soil nutrient availability in 2012 were collected by Jinhu Liu and were statistically analyzed by myself. Data from Chapter 3 "Aspen seedling establishment on reclamation sites lacking topsoil cover – impacts of biochar and fertilizer amendments" have been presented at the following conferences: poster at the 2013 3rd HAI Science Forum, Edmonton, AB, Canada; oral presentation at the 4th HAI-Energy and Environment Science Forum, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Simon Landhäusser for making this research possible and for supporting and guiding me throughout my thesis. Without his constructive criticism and enthusiasm I would have not been able to accomplish this at times very hard endeavor. I would also like to thank Dr. Douglass Jacobs and Dr. David Olefeldt for their time as committee members.

To the past and current members of the Landhäusser Research Group including Fran Leishman, Jessica Grenke, Sarah Thacker, Lynnette Allemand, Jeff Kelly, Erin Wiley, Shannon Hankin, and Philipp Leberer, Alison Wilson, Caren Jones, Alex Goeppel, Ingo Siebert and Meghan Jacklin thank you for your help in the field and lab.

Most of all, I would like to thank my beloved husband Simon Bockstette for his love and ongoing support during those long years of studies. Without him and my beautiful two sons I would have not been able to balance work and family life.

Funding for this research was provided by the Helmholz-Alberta Initiative (HAI), TransAlta Ltd. and Syncrude Ltd. and the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

Table of Contents

Abstract	
Preface	iv
Acknowledg	mentsv
Chapter 1 - (General Introduction
1.1	Surface mining and reclamation
1.2	Revegetation
1.3	Soil reconstruction and soil amendments
1.4	Biochar
1.4.	1 Biochar effect on soil properties
1.4.2	2 Biochar effect on plant growth
1.5	Thesis outline and Objectives
Chapter 2 - 1	Rebuilding soils and forests: Soil capping materials, thickness and arrangement
affect seedlin	ng development on an upland boreal forest reclamation site
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Methodology
2.2.	1 Site description 12
2.2.2	2 Site construction and material description
2.2.1	3 Experimental design
2.2.4	4 Soil temperature and soil water content
2.2.	5 Mortality and seedling growth
2.2.	6 Biomass and biomass allocation
2.2.	7 Foliar nutrient concentrations
2.2.3	8 Data analysis
2.3	Results

2.3.1	l Mortality	19
2.3.2	2 Topsoil material type	19
2.3.3	B Topsoil thickness	
2.3.4	4 Subsoil material type	
2.3.5	5 Total capping thickness	
2.4	Discussion	
2.5	Tables	
2.6	Figures	
Chapter 3 - A	Ispen seedling establishment on reclamation sites lacking topsoil cover -	- impacts of
biochar and j	fertilizer amendments	44
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Methodology	
3.2.	Site description	47
3.2.2	2 Experimental design	
3.2.3	3 Soil water content and plant available soil nutrients	49
3.2.4	4 Mortality and seedling growth	50
3.2.5	5 Biomass, leaf area and biomass allocation	50
3.2.0	5 Foliar nutrient analysis	51
3.2.7	7 Data analysis	51
3.3	Results	53
3.3.1	Volumetric soil water content and available soil nutrients	53
3.3.2	2 Seedling responses	53
3.4	Discussion	55
3.5	Tables	59
3.6	Figures	60

Chapter 4 - General Discussion and Conclusions		. 65
4.1	Research summary	65
4.2	Management implications and further research	. 67
References		69

List of tables

Table 2-1: Physical and chemical properties (mean (SD)) of ASCS soil materials measured in
2012. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences among material types ($\alpha = 0.1$)
(n = 3)
Table 2-2: Initial seedling characteristics (mean (SD)) at out planting in 2012
Table 2-3: Annual (2013 – 2014) and growing season (May – September) soil temperature (°C)
(mean (SD)) at 15 cm depth for the FFM and peat materials. Letters indicate statistically
significant effects ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3)
Table 2-4: Volumetric soil water content (VWC) (cm3 cm-3) during the growing season (May –
September) and number of days with daily soil temperature above 5°C (mean (SD)) at 15 cm
depth for the FFM and peat materials. Letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effect ($\alpha =$
0.1) (n = 3)
Table 2.5. Total biomass, loof stam and root mass (a) (maan (SD)) in 2014 of aspan, nine and
nable 2-3. Total biolinass, lear, stell and root mass (g) (mean (SD)) in 2014 of aspen, pine and
spruce on FFM and peat materials. Different letters indicate statistically significant topsoin C_{1}^{C}
effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3)
Table 2-6: Leaf area (cm2), root shoot ratio (RSR), leaf mass ratio (LMR), stem mass ratio
(SMR) and root mass ratio (RMR) (g g-1) (mean (SD)) in 2014 of aspen, pine and spruce on
FFM and peat materials. Different letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effects within
each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3)
Table 2-7: Foliar nutrient concentrations (%) of N and P measured in 2014 and calculated N:P
ratio (mean (SD)) of aspen, pine and spruce growing on FFM and Peat materials. Different
letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) ($n = 3$) 36
Table 2-8: Growing season (May – September) soil temperature (°C) and number of days with
average daily soil temperature above 5°C (mean (SD)) at 35 cm depth for the treatments FFM10,
FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30. Different letters indicate statistically significant effects ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n
= 3)

Table 2-9: Foliar N and P concentrations (%) measured in 2014 and calculated N:P ratio (mean
(SD)) of aspen, pine and spruce growing on FFM10, FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30 treatments.
Different letters indicate statistically significant treatment effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n
= 3)
Table 3-1: Soil characteristics (mean (SD)) of subsoil material found at Whitewood mine,
adapted from Liu 2015
Table 3-2: Shoot mass ratio (SMR) and root to shoot ratio (RSR) (mean (SD)) of aspen seedlings
in the biochar and no biochar treatments. Letters indicate statically significant differences ($\alpha =$
0.05) (n = 5)

List of figures

Figure 2-1: Map of Aurora Soil Capping Study (ASCS) including all treatments, plantings and	ł
planting densities.	. 38

Figure 2-3: Annual height growth (2012-2014) of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (e) spruce and final heights in 2014 of (b) aspen, (d) pine and (f) spruce in response to topsoil materials (forest floor material (FFM) and peat (Peat)). Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM) (n = 3). Asterisks represent significant topsoil effects within year and species. Different letters represent statistically significant differences among treatment means within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$). 40

Figure 2-6: Annual height growth (2012 - 2014) of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (e) spruce and final heights in 2014 of (b) aspen, (d) pine and (f) spruce in response to total capping depth Cap30, Cap60, Cap100 and Cap150. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM) (n = 3).

Figure 3-5: Aspen height in 2014 for the treatments without fertilizer, fertilizer only (low rate equiv. 50 kg N ha⁻¹), fertilizer only (high rate equiv. 100 kg N ha⁻¹). Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm 1 SEM) (n = 5). Letters indicate significant treatment effects (α = 0.05). ... 64

Chapter 1 - General Introduction

1.1 Surface mining and reclamation

Globally, forests cover about 33% of the terrestrial areas and play a crucial role in providing habitat, food and other resources for plants, animals and humans. With about 1.9 billion hectares, the boreal biome is, after the tropical forest biome, the second largest forested region globally (NRCAN 2017). The boreal forest zone encompasses large areas of the circumpolar northern hemisphere, covering about 29% of the North American continent and vast areas of Europe and Asia (Brandt 2009; Runesson 2014). The climate of this zone is characterized by short, relatively warm growing seasons and cold, long winters (Bonan 1989) and the main limiting factors for plant productivity are low temperatures and the short growing seasons (Vitousek and Howarth 1991). The boreal forest provides a large number of ecosystem services and resources, such as climate regulations, water and nutrient cycling, carbon storage, timber, minerals, oil and gas (Brandt et al. 2013; Venier et al. 2014). Forest ecosystems worldwide are exposed to a range of natural and anthropogenic disturbances. While most forest ecosystems are adapted to natural disturbances within the natural range of intensity and severity, some anthropogenic disturbances produce relatively novel disturbance regimes with unprecedented intensity and severity, to which these forests might not be well adapted.

One such anthropogenic disturbance is surface mining for underground resources such as minerals, coal, oil and gas. Large scale surface mining requires the complete removal of all existing vegetation, surface soils and overburden material, before the resource can be extracted. Once the mining process has come to an end, the reclamation process usually begins with recontouring the excavated area with topographical features using the overburden and surface soil materials removed before. The mining and reclamation process severely changes physical, chemical and biological soil properties, which often include the transformation and loss of nutrients, changes of pH values and soil temperature, increases in bulk density, decrease of soil moisture, soil organisms, soil organic material and propagule bank (Schafer et al. 1979; Haigh 1992; Davies et al. 1995; Wick et al. 2009; Sheoran et al. 2010; Macdonald et al. 2015). One of

the goals of land reclamation in Alberta is to "return the specified land to an equivalent land capability" (Government of Alberta 1993); however, poor topsoil and subsoil material qualities can make the natural recovery of a native ecosystem challenging. Thus the careful storage and handling of soil materials, such as short-term storage or direct placement of soil materials on reclamation sites, limiting traffic of heavy machinery and planting of native tree species may be of utmost importance for the rapid and successful forest reclamation.

1.2 Revegetation

Planting tree seedlings on reclamation sites is an effective measure to initiate the restoration of forests and their associated functions. A developing tree canopy can suppress the establishment of weedy species and promote organic matter (OM) accumulation in the soil by producing litter (Macdonald et al. 2012). The boreal forest naturally contains a rather low number of native tree species, which derive from an even narrower range of genera. Trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) are some of the commonly planted tree species in forest reclamation, because they are fast growing, light and drought tolerant and they are the dominant tree species in many upland forest types in central and northern Alberta (Natural Regions Committee 2006). White spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss.) is also planted in reforestation and reclamation projects, because it is a commercially important species, which naturally occurs in many forest types across Canada. As a shade tolerant, climax species, it plays an important role in the late successional forests in northern and central Alberta (Natural Regions Committee 2006).

1.3 Soil reconstruction and soil amendments

The soil is one of the most important components that drive a myriad of above and belowground ecosystem processes in terrestrial ecosystems (Nyle and Weil 2004). These processes have significant impact on the vegetation that depends on soils through the provision of essential resources such as water, nutrients and rooting space. The formation of natural soils and their components over time is driven by the action and interaction of biotic (soil organisms, plants, animals and humans) and abiotic (climate, topography, parent material) variables (Jenny 1994). The soils shaped by these factors will in-turn mediate plant community development and composition and their performance via resource availability (Coyne and Thompson 2006; Binkley and Fisher 2013).

The most important, but also challenging step in forest reclamation is the reconstruction of a suitable rooting medium, which can support the development of a forest ecosystem for decades to come (Burger et al. 2005; Burger and Zipper 2011; Zipper et al. 2013; Macdonald et al. 2015). This rooting medium should therefore consist of materials which can supply and store sufficient nutrients and moisture to promote mature forests. Those materials are high quality topsoil and subsoil materials, which were extracted from newly mined areas or were stockpiled for later usage in reclamation. Recent practices attempt to create reclamation soils with distinct soil horizons by salvaging the soil materials horizon by horizon and putting them onto the reclamation site in the reverse order they were dug up. However, those reconstructed soils may differ considerably from undisturbed soils in terms of number of horizons, horizon sequence, thickness and materials. Due to the greater expansion of lowland forests (i.e. treed bogs and fens) in the boreal eco-zone, with several meters of organic soil (peat) over mineral soil horizon, peat is commonly used in forest reclamation as a topsoil cover at various thicknesses or as a soil amendment, because it contains a high amount of OM (Fung and Macyk 2000; Macdonald et al. 2015). Other mineral soil materials originating from upland forests are typically less available, because soil horizons over the parent material might not be as thick and salvaged areas might not be as large as the more common lowland areas (Soil Classification Working Group 1998; Rooney et al. 2012). Recent studies have shown that directly transplanted forest floor material (FFM), salvaged from upland forest sites and consisting of the organic layers (LFH), mineral A horizons and some of the B horizon, can enhance the recovery of desired forest tree and understory species (Hahn and Quideau 2013; Naeth et al. 2013), soil microbial communities (McMillan et al. 2007; MacKenzie and Quideau 2010; Beasse 2011), as well as mycorrhizal associations (Gaster et al. 2015; Hankin 2015). While the FFM can only be salvaged up to a depth of several centimeters, the underlying subsoil horizons, which comprise varying thicknesses of B and C materials, can also be used to reconstruct the distinct soil horizons mentioned above on the reclamation site.

However, in some instances, suitable soil materials may not be available for reclamation purposes. This may be the case when surface mining has come to an end due to the total exploitation of the desired resource in a certain area. Moreover, before 1983 topsoil was often transported off site, as regulations were not as strict as today, leaving little or no topsoil material for today's reclamation (Larney et al. 2005). Under those circumstances it may be necessary to proceed with the reclamation operation without the use of a topsoil capping material and plant tree seedlings directly into the unconsolidated mineral soil material (overburden). This, however, may be problematic, as those materials may be lacking nutrients and may have poor water holding capacity (Frouz et al. 2008, 2009; Larney and Angers 2012; Macdonald et al. 2015).

To overcome those limitations, soil amendments, which are added to the soil in order to improve physical, chemical and biological properties of the growing medium, may be an option. Soil amendments can be separated into inorganic (sand, vermiculite, perlite, crumb rubber, lime, inorganic fertilizer, etc.) and organic (straw, compost, manure, peat, biochar, organic fertilizer, etc.) materials, which each have their specific properties and effects on the soil, soil biota and plants. Inorganic soil amendments are usually used to improve physical soil characteristics, such as gas exchange, water dynamics and soil temperature or chemical soil properties, such as soil acidity and heavy metal contamination or add nutrients to the soil (Gruenthal 1999; Hazelton and Murphy 2016a, b; Lwin et al. 2018). Organic soil amendments, on the other hand, can also be used to improve chemical and biological soil properties, such as nutrient supply, ion exchange capacity, pH and soil microbial activity (Hazelton and Murphy 2016b). This is usually achieved by adding OM to the growing medium, which can increase soil microbial activity by supplying the soil fauna with food, adding nutrients to the soil by decomposition of the material, and improving water holding capacity by increasing soil porosity (Cooperband 2002).

1.4 Biochar

One such material recently attracting a lot of attention in forest reclamation is pyrolysed biomass (charcoal), which is called biochar when it is used as a soil amendment to alter soil properties. Biochar is defined as fine grained charcoal, which is high in organic carbon and highly resistant to decomposition (Lehmann and Joseph 2009). It is produced by pyrolysis of organic material (feedstock), which is a slow combustion method under oxygen-poor conditions and at temperatures between 100 and 1000 °C. The feedstock for biochar production can be anything from animal manure (chicken, cow, pig), energy crops (corn, cereals, palm oil) and agricultural waste (straw, nut shells), to any kind of wood (twigs, branches, stems, roots) (Sohi et al. 2010). Scott et al. (2014) suggest to separate biochar into two groups depending on the feedstock: plant derived biochar (PDB) and animal derived biochar (ADB), because PDBs generally has higher total C, lower ash content, lower nutrient contents and lower cation exchange capacity (CEC) than ADBs. Depending on the feedstock material and pyrolysis process (pyrolysis temperature, duration and oxygen level), biochar can have very heterogeneous physical, chemical and biological characteristics (Singh et al. 2010; Sohi et al. 2010; Zhao et al. 2013; Suliman et al. 2016) and thus, can have varying impacts on soil properties and plant growth (Wardle et al. 1998; Robertson et al. 2012; Omil et al. 2013; Pluchon et al. 2014).

For instance, biochar can have a highly porous structure and large inner surface area with many micropores (internal diameter < 2 nm), mesopores (internal diameter < 50 nm) and macropores (internal diameter > 50 nm) (Verheijen et al. 2009; Mukherjee et al. 2011; Soucémarianadin et al. 2013). Several studies found that increasing pyrolysis temperatures increased the surface area of a biochar (Keiluweit et al. 2010; Břendová et al. 2012; Zhao et al. 2013; Scott et al. 2014), while pore size distribution will largely depend on the feedstock material (Quilliam et al. 2013). Břendová et al. (2012) found that the specific surface area was higher for biochar derived from wood than for biochar derived from maize or meadow grass, while Zhao et al. (2013) found that biochar derived from sawdust had the highest surface area and pore volume out of 14 different feedstock materials tested.

Biochar has a very high carbon content, which is caused by the carbonaceous skeleton remaining from the cell walls and capillary system of the feedstock material (Laine et al. 1991). Mukherjee and Zimmerman (2013) found that biochar derived from oak wood had relatively higher total carbon content (62.6 - 81.3 %) than biochar derived from grass (49.4 - 70.4%), while relative carbon content increased with higher pyrolysis temperature ($250^{\circ}C < 650^{\circ}C$), for both oak and grass. The carbon found in biochar can be separated into recalcitrant, labile, leachable and aromatic carbon, which influences decomposition rate and availability of carbon as

5

an energy resource for microorganisms (Lehmann et al. 2011). The generally highly recalcitrant nature of biochar results in a mean residence time between 90 and 1600 years (Singh et al. 2012).

Biochar contains a certain amount of nutrients that generally depends on the relative ash content of the final product. The ash content on the other hand is again highly dependent on the feedstock material and the pyrolysis process (Lehmann and Joseph 2009; Mukherjee and Zimmerman 2013). Raveendran et al. (1995) and Bourke et al. (2007) found high variability of ash contents and nutrients contained within biochars derived from different agriculatural waste materials. Furthermore, experiments using different temperatures during pyrolysis found that potassium and chlorine vaporize easily at relatively low temperatures, while calcium and magnesium both need much higher temperatures to vaporize. Phosphorus and sulfur are organically bound to the cell structures and are therefore relatively stable during pyrolysis (Lehmann and Joseph 2009).

1.4.1 Biochar effect on soil properties

Due to the high porosity and large surface area, biochar has been found to retain water and nutrients in soil (Lewis et al. 2006; Gaskin et al. 2007; Ouyang et al. 2013; Raave et al. 2014; Prober et al. 2014; Dan et al. 2015) through water infiltration into the porouse structure and adsorption of nutrients to the surface area. Biochar can increase the cation exchange capacity (CEC) of a soil due to its mostly negative charge and large surface area (Mukherjee et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015). Thus, it can decrease the leaching of cations such as potassium and ammonium (Omil et al. 2013; Sika and Hardie 2014), but also of anions such as nitrate (Ding et al. 2010, 2017). This can be a short-term improvement, but due to the high stability of biochar in soil (high amount of recalcitrant carbon) it can also provide a long-term improvement of water holding capacity, especially of sandy soils (Sohi et al. 2010).

Some studies have found that biochar has the ability to change the pH of a soil, due to biochar's own pH (Verheijen et al. 2009; Mukherjee et al. 2011; Yuan et al. 2011). Yuan et al. (2011) found that the pH of an acidic Utisol can be increased or decreased by the addition of different biochars derived from crop straws, depending on the alkalinity of the feedstock material and the pyrolysis process. Mukherjee et al. (2011) and Yuan et al. (2011) found that the pH of a

biochar increases with increasing pyrolysis temperature and duration, both suggested that biochars produced at high temperatures will be more suitable to increase soil pH.

Omil et al. (2013) found that soil OM increased with the addition of charcoal to a sandy and fine soil, not only from addition of biochar, but also from higher OM turnover due to increased microbial activity. Microbial biomass and activity has been found to increase with the addition of biochar to soil (Pietikäinen et al. 2000; Lehmann et al. 2011), which can be attributed to the large surface area and carbon content of the biochar. Jones et al. (2012) found that biochar (derived from woodchips of temperate deciduous tree species) incorporated into a sandy clay loam increased bacterial and fungal growth after 2 growing seasons.

1.4.2 Biochar effect on plant growth

Biochar has been extensively used in agriculture to improve crop production since the late 1800's. Even earlier evidence of biochar-type substances used by ancient Amerindian populations are reported from the Amazon region, where the very fertile Terra Preta was discovered (Lehmann and Joseph 2009). In agricultural trials biochar is commonly used in large amounts (up to 200,000 kg ha⁻¹; Kammann et al. 2011) and in combination with fertilizer, where it improved crop yield, nutrient and water uptake efficiency, thus making the crop more resilient to drought (Kammann et al. 2011; Jones et al. 2012; Quilliam et al. 2013; Mulcahy et al. 2013). However, without the addition of fertilizer biochar can have detrimental effects on plants due to the adsorption of nutrients by the biochar and the resulting reduction of nitrogen uptake by plants, which can cause decreased biomass production (Asai et al. 2009).

The first research regarding biochar application to soil and tree seedling growth was conducted by Retan (1915), who found that application of biochar to a heavy clay in the Mont Alto nursery at the Pennsylvania State Forest Academy increased growth and weight of seeded white pine (*Pinus strobus* L.) two fold after two growing seasons compared to the untreated control. Since then, several studies confirmed the benefits of biochar and fertilizer applied to the growing medium on tree seedling growth (Robertson et al. 2012; Omil et al. 2013; Pluchon et al. 2014), as well as for mature trees (Thomas and Gale 2015). However, the positive effect of biochar always highly depends on the biochar properties itself and the substrate it was added to,

with the most improvements of tree growth seen, when biochar and fertilizer was added to coarse textured and/or acidic soil substrates (Spokas et al. 2012; Thomas and Gale 2015).

In recent years, biochar has been increasingly used in reclamation settings, where it is mainly applied for the restoration of contaminated soils and water with heavy metals and organic and inorganic pollutants (Beesley et al. 2011; Fellet et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015; Lwin et al. 2018).

1.5 Thesis outline and Objectives

This thesis consists of two individual research chapters. The overall objective of this work was to study the effects of different reclamation materials (peat and sandy soil materials), their placement depth and sequence, as well as the addition of soil amendments (biochar and fertilizer) to an unconsolidated mineral material on planted tree seedling establishment, growth and nutritional status, as well as the impact on soil physical and chemical properties in upland boreal forest reclamation following surface mining. The results of both studies are intended to be used to improve best management practices.

In my second chapter I examined the effect of (1) various soil materials, in particular the peat from a lowland area and A horizon (FFM) of a salvaged Brunisol, (2) cover soil placement depth, (3) the underlying subsoil material type (different subsoil horizons of a salvaged Brunisol (Bm, B, C)) and (4) total capping material depth on early seedling establishment and growth of three common boreal upland tree species (trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) and white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss.)), as well as the impact of these different soil capping treatments on soil physical (soil temperature and water content) and chemical (i.e. nutrient availability) properties in an oil sands mine reclamation project.

In my third chapter I studied the impact of (1) biochar, (2) fertilizer and (3) the combination of both added to an unconsolidated mineral soil material on aspen seedling establishment, growth and soil water and nutrient availability in a coal mine reclamation project, which was lacking suitable topsoil cover.

Chapter 2 - Rebuilding soils and forests: Soil capping materials, thickness and arrangement affect seedling development on an upland boreal forest reclamation site

2.1 Introduction

After severe anthropogenic disturbances, such as surface or open pit mining, intimate relationships and interactions between landscape, plants, and soils are disturbed or destroyed (Pickell et al. 2013; Macdonald et al. 2015). Open pit mining requires the complete removal of all existing vegetation and soil materials (topsoil, subsoil, and geological overburden materials) before the resource can be accessed and extracted. After mining and as part of the reclamation and restoration process, the topography, including soils and vegetation, of entire landscapes need to be reconstructed (Rooney et al. 2012; Macdonald et al. 2015). At these large scales, surface mines have no natural disturbance analogues, and therefore the reclamation and re-establishment of forests and their functional processes require novel approaches for their recovery (Jacobs et al. 2015).

A challenge in the reclamation process is the reconstruction of soils that have the ability to provide a suitable growing medium and resources necessary to establish and sustain both the planted and volunteer vegetation. Soils play a particularly important role in forest restoration, as they have to sustain deep-rooted long-lived plants (i.e. trees) over decades or centuries, over which these ecosystems can be exposed to a wide range of climatic conditions, disturbances and other biotic or abiotic stresses. While it is impossible to recreate the exact soils with all its distinct horizons and differences in properties, reclamation practices can attempt to emulate some of the characteristics that provide short- and long-term benefits similar to undisturbed soils (Burton and Macdonald 2011; Zipper et al. 2011, 2013; Macdonald et al. 2015). The first step in operational land reclamation is the reconstruction of geo-technically stable landforms using overburden material. Once the landforms are built, salvaged subsoil materials are placed on top of the overburden material and subsequently covered with salvaged topsoil materials (Oil Sands Vegetation Reclamation Committee 1998). Creating a suitable soil cover design with appropriate soil material horizons and thicknesses can help minimize the economic

and ecological risk of failure of reclamation areas (Macdonald et al. 2015). The topsoil layer and the soil organic material (SOM) contained within, play an important role in short-term nutrient cycling, as well as water infiltration and storage. The shallower subsoil horizons (e.g. B-horizon), in contrast, are typically characterized by lower SOM, microbe activity and nutrient content than the topsoil, but may have higher availability of specific nutrients, such as phosphorous, than the deeper parent material (C-horizon). However, the C-horizon is essential for the long-term availability of mineral nutrients through weathering. Moreover, these deeper subsoils provide structural support for plants, as well as long-term water storage (Jenny 1994; Soil Classification Working Group 1998; Nyle and Weil 2004).

The handling, moving and storing of salvaged soil materials during the mining process can drastically change physical, chemical and biological soil properties and thus impact reclamation success (Sheoran et al. 2010; Audet et al. 2015). The different salvaged soil materials can either be stockpiled and stored for later use, which can reduce their quality, especially the topsoil material (Johnson et al. 1991; Harris et al. 1993; Sheoran et al. 2010), or can be placed directly on a reclamation area after salvaging without stockpiling. Direct-placement has been found to be beneficial for forest restoration as these materials contain more viable soil organisms and propagules (Harris et al. 1989; Koch et al. 1996; Mackenzie and Naeth 2010; Beasse 2011; Naeth et al. 2013) and may be more cost efficient due to reduced transportation. In the boreal forest region of northern Alberta, many areas that are currently being disturbed by open-pit mining are dominated by organic soils (peat) and so peat material salvaged from these lowland forests (i.e. treed bogs and fens) are commonly used at various thicknesses as a topsoil soil cover in forest reclamation (Fung and Macyk 2000; Macdonald et al. 2015).

In 2011, the Aurora soil capping study (ASCS) was established to test a range of questions related to the impact of soil capping prescriptions on early upland forest establishment at an operational scale. Different soil materials, in particular the different horizons of a salvaged Brunisol (LFH, A, Bm, B, C) and the peat from a lowland area, were used to construct thirteen different soil capping treatments, which differed in their soil material type, horizon configuration and application thickness. The effect of those soil capping treatments on early seedling establishment and growth of three common boreal upland tree species, trembling aspen (*Populus*)

tremuloides Michx.), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) and white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss.) and the impact of these different soil capping treatments on soil physical (soil temperature and water content) and chemical (i.e. nutrient availability) properties was assessed. The results of this study will be used to improve best management practices.

My study hypotheses were:

(1) Due to the high organic matter content and higher nitrogen and water availability of peat, seedlings of all three species would have better growth, with less allocation to root mass, and higher foliar nitrogen concentrations, compared to seedlings growing in the coarse-textured Forest Floor Material (FFM, defined later in chapter) coversoil topsoil.

(2) Because topsoil materials typically have higher water and nutrient availability than subsoil materials, thicker application of topsoil (with topsoil thicknesses ranging from 10 to 30 cm) will result in better growth and higher foliar nutrient concentrations.

(3) Integrating a selectively salvaged subsoil material that has higher phosphorous concentrations (Bm) rather than a blended subsoil salvaged from greater depths (B/C and C horizon) will improve seedling growth, irrespective of topsoil material.

(4) Thicker total soil caps (with capping thicknesses ranging from 30 to 150 cm) over the overburden material (lean oil sand) will improve seedling growth due to greater rooting space within the soil cover.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Site description

The Aurora Soil Capping Study (ASCS) site, a large-scale (36 ha) reclamation experiment, is located in the Syncrude Aurora North-Mine lease, about 80 km north of Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada (57°20' N, 111°31' W). The reclamation site is on a relatively flat plateau with a gentle slope (< 5 %) and an east – west aspect at an elevation of 350 m on an overburden mine dump. The mine lease is located within the Central Mixedwood Natural Subregion, which is composed of a mixture of forests and wetlands on upland and lowland sites. Trembling aspen and white spruce mixedwood stands characterize upland sites on medium to fine textured Gray Luvisolic soils, while jack pine dominated stands occur on coarser textured Brunisolic soils. The poorly drained lowland sites are typically dominated by black spruce and tamarack dominated fens and bogs on organic soils (Soil Classification Working Group 1998; Natural Regions Committee 2006). The climate in the Central Mixedwood Natural Subregion is characterized by short growing seasons (May through September) of about 97 frost free days (Natural Regions Committee 2006). The climate normal during the growing season (May – September) for this region (1981-2010) is 13.4°C mean air temperature and 284.3 mm total precipitation (Government of Canada 2016). Mean air temperature for the 2012 through 2014 growing seasons was 16.4, 16.0 and 14.5°C and total accumulated precipitation was 242, 319 and 343 mm, respectively.

2.2.2 Site construction and material description

The ASCS was established on a large lean oil sand (LOS) overburden dump. Regulatory approvals for mine operators characterize lean oil sand overburden material as being unsuitable for plant growth which requires a soil reclamation cover. It has a mean texture of sandy loam, a neutral pH, and an oil concentration of 2.7% (Table 2-1), which is below the economical concentration for extraction (approximately 7-8%). The ASCS surface landform grading of the overburden was completed in 2011, with soil reclamation placement completed prior to the 2012 growing season.

Five different types of capping materials were salvaged within the mine development footprint for the study. Capping materials included two topsoil materials: Peat salvaged from organic horizons up to approximately 4 m in depth that were lowland bogs and fens and Forest Floor Material (FFM) from coarse-textured, Brunisolic Order soils dominated by jack pine forests. FFM consisted of the surface LFH and A horizons, and potentially a portion of the B horizon salvaged to a depth of approximately 15 cm. Three subsoil materials were investigated, derived from the native Brunisolic Order soils which differed in their depth of salvage: a selectively salvaged Bm horizon from approximately 15 to 50 cm, a blended BC and C horizons (B/C) from approximately 50 to 100 cm, and a deep salvage of approximately 15 to 250 cm that is dominantly C horizon material. The FFM, Bm, B/C and C materials were all salvaged from the same area of the mine lease, as such they all have the same glaciofluvial geologic parent material. Peat and FFM were topsoils placed over subsoil and they were directly placed (not in stockpile) from their source of salvage. The FFM has a sandy texture with a slightly acidic pH of 5.6 compared to Peat (pH 7.4). It has lower nitrogen and sulfur concentrations, but higher phosphorus and potassium concentrations compared to the Peat (Table 2-1).

The Peat contains 34% organic matter with only a small proportion of mineral material (Table 2-1), relative to FFM which contained 2.6 % organic matter. The Peat has higher total nitrogen, nitrate and sulfur than FFM, while the phosphorus concentration was significantly lower (Table 2-1).

Prior to placement in 2011, the Bm and B/C materials had been in stockpile since the winter of 2007/08. This material has a sandy texture and a lower pH (6) than the other subsoil materials (B/C and C; Table 2-1). While this material has similar concentrations of ammonium, nitrate, potassium and sulfur to the other subsoil materials, the phosphorous concentration was much higher than those found in the other subsoil materials, but very similar to the FFM topsoil (Table 2-1).

Once the Bm material was removed, the remaining B and underlying C horizons were salvaged between a depth of 50 and 100 cm (B/C material). This material had also been stockpiled until its placement in 2011. It has a higher pH (7.3) than the other subsoil materials.

Only the phosphorus concentration in the B/C material was lower than in the Bm, while all other soil nutrients measured were similar to the other subsoil materials (Table 2-1).

The C material was salvaged adjacent to the Bm and B/C salvage area and was salvaged to approximately 250 cm following the salvage of the FFM. It was directly placed at the ASCS. The concentrations of ammonium, nitrate, potassium and sulfur did not differ from the other subsoil materials, but the phosphorous concentration was lower than in the Bm material (Table 2-1).

2.2.3 Experimental design

The ASCS was set up as a split-plot design, with soil capping treatment as the plot effect and tree planting treatment as the split effect. Thirteen different soil capping treatments were tested in the ASCS. Each treatment was replicated three times and randomly located on the reclamation site (approx. 36 ha; Fig. 2-1). Each treatment cell was 1 ha in size. Four tree plots (25 × 25 m) were established within each of the treatment cells and separated by a minimum 10 m buffer. Three of the tree plots were planted with one of three tree species each: trembling aspen, jack pine and white spruce, while the fourth tree plot was planted with an even mixture of all three species. All seedling stock was grown from local seed sources and produced at a commercial nursery (Smoky Lake Forest Nursery Ltd.) under operational protocols described in Landhäusser et al. (2012). Aspen and spruce seedlings were sown into 615A StyroblockTM (Beaver Plastics Ltd, Acheson, Alberta), while pine were sown into 412A StyroblockTM (Beaver Plastics Ltd, Acheson, Alberta). All seedlings were planted as one-year-old seedlings. Aspen were 30 cm, spruce were 29 cm and pine were 18.2 cm in height at time of planting (Table 2-2). Seedlings were hand-planted in June 2012 at a regular 1×1 m spacing (equivalent of 10,000 stems per hectare (sph)). The area for each treatment cell outside the tree plots was planted with a mixture of the same tree species at a density of approximately2,000 sph, as well as, three native shrub species: pincherry (Prunus pensylvanica L.f.), green alder (Alnus crispa Chaix.) and saskatoon (Amelanchier alnifolia (Nutt.) Nutt. ex M. Roem.) at a density of about 800 sph.

2.2.4 Soil temperature and soil water content

Data Acquisition Systems with CR1000 dataloggers (Campbell Scientific, Edmonton, Canada) were installed in all treatment cells, outside of the tree plots in spring and summer 2012. Volumetric water content (VWC) was measured with time domain refectory sensors (model 616 Campbell Scientific) and soil temperature was measured with thermal conductivity sensors (model 229 Campbell Scientific) six times a day. They were installed in each soil material at various depths and in LOS. For this study I used data from sensors at 15 cm (topsoil) and 35 cm (subsoil) depths to determine VWC and soil temperature. The four hourly readings were averaged per day for the years 2013 and 2014. Daily means from May through September were averaged to determine the average growing season soil temperature and VWC. Further, the numbers of days with daily mean soil temperatures above 5°C were calculated for 2013 and 2014, because root growth of most boreal tree species is considered to be severely restricted below 5°C soil temperature (Chapin III 1977).

2.2.5 Mortality and seedling growth

Seedling heights were measured over three growing seasons (2012-2014) in the single tree plots at the end of each growing season (August) to the nearest 0.5 cm. About twenty-four seedlings per tree plot (subsamples) were measured within two circular permanent sampling subplots (2 m radius), with the first one located in the north-west corner and the second one located in the south-east corner of each tree plot. All seedlings that had their stem inside the circular sampling subplots were measured. In addition, 16 individually tagged seedlings in the center of each tree plot were measure for height and root collar diameter (RCD). RCD was measured to the nearest (data not presented) (see below: Biomass and biomass allocation). Average annual seedling growth was calculated for each of the three growing seasons (2012-2014) by subtracting the average height measured in each subplot of the previous year from the average height measured in the tree. Seedling mortality was assessed by monitoring and counting all dead or missing trees within the sampling subplots and averaging them across the plot.

2.2.6 Biomass and biomass allocation

To determine above- and belowground seedling biomass and biomass allocation within species in response to topsoil materials with contrasting soil nutrient concentrations (FFM and Peat), nine seedlings of each species (representative of the average seedling in the respective treatment) were excavated in fall 2014.

To identify representative seedlings in each treatment, RCD was measured on the 16 permanently tagged seedlings and averaged. Three seedlings (subsamples) with a RCD equal to the plot average RCD were then selected in each tree plot, but outside of the three tree subsampling plots, and excavated carefully to capture the majority of the root system. In total, 54 seedlings were excavated. The excavated seedlings were cold stored in the field and frozen in the laboratory. During processing, roots, stems and leaves were separated, and roots were carefully washed to remove the attached soil. The different organs (leaves, stems and roots) were then dried at 70°C to constant weight and their dry mass was measured. The average leaf area was determined by taking a leaf or needle subsample from the harvested trees. Aspen leaves were scanned with a LI-3100 Area Meter (LI-Cor Inc., Lincoln, USA), while pine and spruce needles were scanned using a STD4800 scanner and analysed using the WinSEEDLETM software (Regent Instruments Inc., Quebec, Canada). The subsamples were then dried in a ventilated drying oven at 70°C and weighed. Root to shoot ratio (RSR) was calculated by dividing the root dry weight by the shoot (leaves and stems combined) dry weight. The allocation to the different organs was determined as mass ratios, leaf mass ratio (LMR), stem mass ratio (SMR) and root mass ratio (RMR) and was calculated by dividing leaf, stem, or root dry mass by the total dry mass of a seedling within each treatment. Mass ratios allow to explore biomass allocation in plants (Thornley 1972), which can change depending on nutrient supply and growing conditions. For example, plants can compensate for low nitrogen or water availability by increasing root growth compared to shoot growth (Wilson 1988).

2.2.7 Foliar nutrient concentrations

Foliar nutrient sampling took place in August 2014. The foliage of nine to twelve seedlings per tree plot were combined into one sample. Leaves and needles were collected using scissors (to

minimize damage to the seedling) from seedlings outside the three tree sampling subplots in order not to interfere with their growth. Aspen leaves were randomly collected from within the entire crown, while pine and spruce needles were collected from the current year growth of the terminal leader and branches. Leaves and needles were then cold stored in the field and frozen in the laboratory before processing. Leaves were dried at 70°C to constant weight and subsequently ground with a Wiley mill to 40 mesh (0.4 mm) and sent for nutrient analysis to a commercial laboratory (Natural Resources Analytical Laboratory (NRAL), University of Alberta). The samples were analyzed for total nitrogen (N) concentration, measured by combustion. The phosphorus (P) concentration was measured by microwave digestion (using HNO₃) followed by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) and subsequently converted into per cent concentration (%). Concentrations of N and P were used to calculate the N:P ratios per species and capping treatment.

2.2.8 Data analysis

Of the 13 capping prescription treatments, 11 treatments were used to compare seedling growth in the single species tree plots. Seedling growth responses were compared in response to:

(1) topsoil material type (FFM and Peat), two treatments were used ((FFM (20 cm FFM over 30 cm Bm over 100 cm C) and Peat (30 cm Peat over 30 cm Bm over 90 cm C)) (Fig. 2-2(a)).

(2) topsoil application thickness, four treatments were used (FFM10 (10 cm FFM over 140 cm C); FFM20 (20 cm FFM over 130 cm C); Peat10 (10 cm Peat over 140 cm C); and Peat30 (30 cm Peat over 120 cm C)) (Fig. 2-2(b)).

(3) topsoil type with different subsoil configurations, six treatments were used (FFM/Bm (20 cm FFM over 30 cm Bm over 100 cm C); FFM/B/C (20 cm FFM over 130 cm B/C); FFM/C
(20 cm FFM over 130 cm C); Peat/Bm (30 cm Peat over 30 cm Bm over 90 cm C); Peat/B/C
(30 cm Peat over 120 cm B/C); and Peat/C (30 cm Peat over 120 cm C)) (Fig. 2-2(c)).

(4) total capping thickness, four treatments were used ((**Cap30** (30 cm Peat over LOS); **Cap60** (30 cm Peat over 30 cm B/C); **Cap100** (30 cm Peat over 70 cm B/C); and **Cap150** (30 cm Peat over 120 cm B/C)) (Fig. 2-2(d)). All physical and chemical properties of the ASCS soil materials were analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) based on a full factorial design (Table 2-1). The factor topsoil with two levels (FFM and Peat), factor topsoil application thickness with four levels (FFM10, FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30), and the factor total capping thickness with four levels (Cap30, Cap60, Cap100 and Cap150) were analysed using a one-way ANOVA based on a full factorial design. The factors topsoil by subsoil with two levels for topsoil (FFM and Peat) and three levels for subsoil (Bm, B/C and C) were analysed using a two-way ANOVA based on a full factorial design. All response variables describing seedling growth performance (annual seedling growth, final seedling height, seedling biomass and mass fractions, foliar nutrient concentrations and N:P ratios) were analysed for each tree species separately, due to varying species-specific ecology as well as differences in nursery stock (Table 2-2). The average annual and seasonal soil temperature, the seasonal VWC, and the number of days above 5°C soil temperature for 2013 and 2014 were analysed using a repeated measure ANOVA with years as the repeated factor with two levels (2013 and 2014). Annual seedling growth was also analysed as a repeated measure ANOVA with years as the repeated factor with three levels (2012, 2013 and 2014). Each repeated measure ANOVA was executed using SPSS 20.0 (IBM Corp., 2011). All other response variables were analysed using a general linear model (GLM) in RStudio (version 3.0.2, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, R Core Team 2014). Prior to each statistical analysis, normality of data and homogeneity of variances was tested on residuals using Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's test using the package "car". If main effects were significant in the ANOVA (p = 0.1), Fisher's LSD tests were performed using the package "agricolea". A significance level of $\alpha = 0.1$ was chosen due to the low replication of this operational scale study (n = 3), this has been done in several other studies conducted on this reclamation site (Jones 2016; Bockstette 2017).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Mortality

Overall, seedling mortality during the three years of the study was low across the study area and did not differ among capping treatments. Aspen had the highest mortality with about 6%, while pine and spruce had an average mortality of 1.3%.

2.3.2 Topsoil material type

2.3.2.1 Soil temperature and soil water content

Treatments with a Peat cover soil had consistently lower annual and seasonal soil temperatures at 15 cm soil depth than FFM in both years (2013, 2014) (topsoil effect: p < 0.02). The Peat was also cooler, annually and seasonally, in 2014 than in 2013 (year effect: p < 0.06; Table 2-3). Peat was on average 2.6°C colder during the growing season than FFM and as a result, the Peat had 11 fewer days where daily average soil temperatures were above 5°C than the FFM (topsoil effect: p = 0.002; Table 2-4). Volumetric soil water content (VWC) at 15 cm soil depth was higher in peat than in FFM in both growing seasons, but there were no differences between the two years (topsoil effect: p < 0.001; Table 2-4).

2.3.2.2 Seedling growth

Aspen seedling height growth was similar on both topsoil materials (FFM and peat) (27 cm) in 2012. In the following years, however, aspen steadily increased height growth on FFM with 37 cm in 2013 and 47 cm in 2014, while aspen on Peat had decreased height growth in 2013 (21 cm) which remained similar in 2014 (27 cm) (topsoil by year interaction: p = 0.074; Fig. 2-3(a)). The final height of aspen seedlings after three growing seasons was 140 cm on FFM and 100 cm on Peat (p = 0.108; Fig. 2-3(b)). The RCD in 2014 of aspen seedlings was higher on FFM (19.6 mm) than on Peat (12.9 mm) (p = 0.07) (data not shown).

Similar to aspen, pine seedling height growth was not different on both topsoil materials (15 cm) in the first growing season (2012), while it was higher on FFM than on peat in 2013 and 2014 (topsoil by year interaction: p = 0.04; Fig. 2-3(c)). In 2013, pine height growth remained stable

on FFM (19 cm), while it decreased on peat (8 cm). In 2014, height growth of pine on FFM and peat both increased but was still higher on FFM (39 cm) than on Peat (19 cm; Fig. 2-3(c)). After three growing seasons, pine seedlings where 82 cm tall on FFM and 52 cm on Peat (p = 0.01; Fig. 2-3(d)). The RCD in 2014 of pine seedlings was higher on FFM (18.7 mm) than on Peat (13.1 mm) (p = 0.04) (data not shown).

Spruce seedling height growth was similar on both topsoil materials for all three growing seasons (2012 = 15 cm, 2013 = 3 cm, 2014 = 14 cm; Fig. 2-3(e)) and as a result, spruce seedlings were similar in height (52 cm) on both topsoil materials (p = 0.50; Fig. 2-3(f)). The RCD in 2014 of spruce seedlings was similar on both topsoil materials (p = 0.98).

2.3.2.3 Biomass and biomass allocation

After three growing seasons (2012-2014), total biomass of aspen seedlings was nearly double for seedlings growing on FFM than on Peat (Table 2-5); however, these averages were not statistically different due to the large variation in the size of seedlings growing on Peat (p = 0.11). This was likely driven by one of the three replication cells, which had 38 – 49 % smaller aspen seedlings than the other two replication cells. Aspen leaf mass (Table 2-5) and leaf area (Table 2-6) were both similar on the topsoil materials (both p > 0.14), while aspen stem and root mass were both higher on FFM than on Peat (both p < 0.098; Table 2-5). Biomass allocation to leaves (LMR) was higher on Peat than on FFM (p = 0.006; Table 2-6). However, stem mass ratio (SMR), root mass ratio (RMR) and root to shoot ratio (RSR) in aspen seedlings were similar regardless of topsoil material (all p > 0.35; Table 2-6)).

Pine seedlings had greater total biomass, leaf, stem and root mass, on FFM than on Peat (all p < 0.06; Table 2-5). Pine needle area was also greater when seedlings grew on FFM (p = 0.04; Table 2-6). However, the allocation to needles (LMR), stem (SMR) and roots (RSR and RMR) was not different in pine on both topsoil materials (all p > 0.15; Table 2-6).

Although spruce seedlings had similar total biomass, needle mass, stem mass and root mass on both topsoil materials (all p > 0.24; Table 2-5), LMR was greater in seedlings on FFM (p = 0.003), while SMR and RMR were both greater on Peat (both p < 0.03; Table 2-6). Only RSR was similar for both topsoil materials (p = 0.37; Table 2-6).

2.3.2.4 Foliar nutrient concentrations and N:P ratios

Compared to seedlings growing on FFM, foliar N concentration of aspen in 2014 was about 54% higher on Peat (p < 0.001), while foliar P was 33% lower (p = 0.09). Accordingly, the N:P ratio in aspen leaves was significantly higher on Peat than on FFM material (p = 0.001; Table 2-7). The concentration of foliar nutrients and N:P ratio did not differ in pine seedlings on both topsoil materials (all p > 0.1; Table 2-7). Foliar N concentration of spruce was 47% higher on Peat compared to FFM (p = 0.03), while foliar P concentration was not different in spruce between the two topsoil materials (p = 0.45). These differences resulted in a higher foliar N:P ratio in spruce seedlings growing on Peat (p = 0.003; Table 2-7).

2.3.3 Topsoil thickness

2.3.3.1 Soil temperature

The application thickness of topsoil material affected soil temperature at 35 cm depth only in Peat during both growing seasons (2013 and 2014). The soil temperature in Peat30 was about 2°C cooler in 2013 and 3°C cooler in 2014 compared to the soil temperature in Peat10. Soil temperature in Peat10 in both years was not statistically different from the soil temperature in FFM10 (treatment by year interaction: p = 0.003; Table 2-8).

For both Peat thicknesses the number of days with soil temperatures above 5°C was not statistically different in 2013; however, in 2014 this period was significantly shorter (14 days) for Peat30 than Peat10. In Peat10, the number of days above 5°C soil temperature was similar to those for both FFM application thicknesses (163 days on average) (treatment by year interaction: p = 0.04; Table 2-8).

2.3.3.2 Seedling growth

Application thickness of FFM as topsoil material did not have an effect on seedling growth in all three species. Conversely, the application thickness of Peat affected seedling growth during the first three growing seasons after planting.

In the 2012 growing season, aspen seedlings grew more on FFM10 (24 cm) than on Peat10 (16 cm), which was also less than on Peat30 (24 cm). However, during the following two growing seasons (2013 and 2014) aspen seedlings grew significantly more on FFM10, FFM20 and Peat10 when compared to Peat30 (treatment by year interaction: p = 0.003; Fig 2-4(a)). After three growing seasons this resulted in aspen seedlings that were on average 117 cm tall on FFM10, FFM20 and Peat10, while on Peat30 seedlings were only 70 cm tall (p = 0.04; Fig 2-4(b)). In 2012, pine seedlings grew less on FFM20 (13 cm) than on Peat30 (15 cm), while in 2013, seedlings on both FFM treatments (FFM10 and FFM20) (18 cm) grew more than on both Peat treatments (Peat10 and Peat30) (8 cm). In 2014 this trend continued and pine grew 38 cm in both FFM treatments compared to 26 cm in the Peat10 and 14 cm in the Peat30 treatment (treatment by year interaction: p < 0.001; Fig 2-4(c)). At the final measurement in 2014 pine seedlings were tallest on FFM20 and FFM10 (79 cm) when compared to Peat10 (60 cm) and Peat 30 (47 cm) (p = 0.002; Fig 2-4(d)).

Spruce seedling growth did not differ among treatments in 2012 with an overall mean of 9 cm. In 2013, spruce seedlings showed the highest growth on FFM20 (7 cm). Seedlings on FFM10 grew 5 cm and seedlings on Peat30 grew 2 cm; however, this difference was not statically significant. Spruce showed the least growth on Peat10 with only 0.1 cm. In 2014, however, spruce seedling growth on FFM10, FFM20 and Peat10 was similar (13 cm), while seedlings on those three treatments grew significantly more than on Peat30 (5 cm) (treatment by year interaction: p = 0.003; Fig 2-4(e)). In 2014 spruce seedlings on both FFM treatments were 53 cm tall, compared to 47 cm on Peat10 and 42 cm on Peat30 (p = 0.006; Fig 2-4(f)).

2.3.3.3 Foliar nutrient concentrations

Aspen seedlings growing on both Peat treatments (Peat10, Peat30) had higher foliar N concentrations than those on the FFM treatments (FFM10, FFM20) (p < 0.001). Foliar N concentrations did not differ within the FFM and Peat treatments. Foliar P concentrations, as well as N:P ratios were similar across all four treatments (both p > 0.11; Table 2-9). For pine, only foliar P concentrations differed significantly across treatments, with pine seedlings in Peat30 showing similar concentrations to those in Peat10, but lower than those in the two FFM treatments (p = 0.07; Table 2-9).

Foliar N concentrations in spruce seedlings were higher on Peat30 than on both FFM treatments, but similar to those on Peat10 (p = 0.01). Foliar P concentrations in spruce seedlings were lower on Peat30 than on both FFM treatments, but, again, similar to those on Peat10 (p = 0.07). The N:P ratios were highest on Peat30, followed by Peat10, followed by both FFM treatments (p < 0.001; Table 2-9).

2.3.4 Subsoil material type

2.3.4.1 Seedling height in 2014

After three growing seasons (2014), only aspen final height was affected by the subsoil material type underlying the topsoil (subsoil effect: p = 0.04). The tallest seedlings (120 cm) were in the soil caps with selectively salvaged Bm as a subsoil material, while seedlings were much shorter on B/C (101 cm) and seedlings on C (94 cm), which were not statistically different from each other (Fig. 2-5(b)). However, final seedling height of all species was affected by the topsoil material (topsoil effect: all p < 0.001). Final height of aspen was 127 cm on FFM and 83 cm on peat (Fig. 2-5(a)), while pine was 81 cm on FFM and 47 cm on Peat (Fig. 2-5(c) and spruce was 54 cm on FFM and 45 cm on Peat (Fig. 2-5(d)).

2.3.4.2 Foliar nutrient concentrations

Foliar nutrition and N:P ratio of aspen seedlings (2014) were not affected by subsoil material type. However, foliar N was higher when seedlings grew on Peat (2.5 %) compared to FFM (1.6 %). Foliar P concentrations did not differ, while the N:P ratios of aspen leaves were higher for seedlings growing on Peat (23 %) than on FFM (11 %).

Foliar P concentrations of pine seedlings were affected by subsoil materials, with the highest foliar P concentrations found when Bm (0.117 %) and C (0.108 %) were used as subsoil materials compared to B/C (0.099 %). Foliar P concentration in pine needles was also lower on Peat (0.102 %) than on FFM (0.114 %). Foliar N concentrations of pine seedlings were only affected by topsoil material (Peat (1.5 %) and FFM (1.3 %)). Consequently, the N:P ratios in pine needles were higher when seedlings grew on Peat (15 %) than on FFM (11 %).

Foliar N concentrations were not affected by subsoil material in spruce seedlings but were higher when growing on Peat (1.8 %) than on FFM (1.3 %). Foliar P concentrations and the calculated N:P ratios of spruce seedlings, however, were affected by both topsoil and subsoil material types (topsoil by subsoil interaction). Foliar P concentrations of spruce were only higher on FFM than on Peat within subsoil C. Within the FFM topsoil, all foliar P concentrations were statistically not different across all subsoil material types (Bm (0.135 %), B/C (0.130 %), C (0.107 %)), while within the Peat topsoil, foliar P concentration found on Bm (0.148 %) were higher than on B/C (0.110 %) and C (0.107 %). The calculated N:P ratios of spruce needles were always higher on Peat than on FFM (across all subsoil material types). Within the FFM topsoil, N:P ratios in spruce were similar across all subsoil material types (Bm (9 %), B/C (10 %), C (9 %))), but for Peat, they were higher on B/C (15 %) and C (16 %) than on Bm (12 %).

2.3.5 Total capping thickness

2.3.5.1 Seedling growth

Aspen seedling height growth was not affected by the total capping thickness during the first three growing seasons (2012-2014) (p = 0.38). In 2012, aspen seedling height growth was not statistically different across all capping depth treatments (27 cm on average), but they decreased their height growth to 10 cm on average in 2013 across all treatments (year effect: p < 0.001). In 2014, height growth across all treatments was similar to 2013. However, there was a trend of increased height growth on Cap60 (14 cm), Cap100 (17 cm) and Cap150 (16 cm), while height growth on Cap30 (3 cm) trended downwards (Fig. 2-6(a)). This growth performance of aspen seedlings resulted in slightly taller seedlings in 2014 on Cap100 (which was 14 cm taller compared to Cap30 (p = 0.10; Fig. 2-6(b)).

Similar to aspen, pine seedling height growth was not affected by the thickness of the cap during the first three growing seasons (treatment effect: p = 0.60). In 2012, pine growth was not different across all capping depth treatments with 15 cm on average, and similarly decreased (7 cm) in 2013 (year effect: p < 0.001). In 2014, pine seedlings growing on Cap100 (13 cm) and Cap150 (10 cm) increased their growth, while seedling growth on Cap30 (8 cm) and Cap60 (6
cm) was not different to 2013 (Fig. 2-6(c)). This, however, did not affect final seedling height in 2014 (43 cm across all treatments) after three growing seasons (p = 0.61; Fig. 2-6(d)).

Spruce seedling growth did not respond to cap thickness in 2012, with 11 cm on average. Height growth decreased significantly in 2013 to only 3 cm while it improved in 2014, spruce seedlings growing on Cap60 (6 cm), Cap100 (8 cm) and Cap150 (7 cm), while it remained similar to 2013 on Cap30 treatment (3 cm) compared to 2013 (year by capping depth interaction: p = 0.09; Fig. 2-6(e)). Nevertheless, this response did not affect the final height of spruce (44 cm across all treatments) after three growing seasons (p = 0.31) (Fig. 2-6(f)).

2.4 Discussion

The selection of topsoil material had the greatest effect on early seedling establishment and height growth in this study. In my first hypothesis I suggested that due to the high organic matter content of peat, seedlings of all three species would grow better in peat than in the sandy FFM topsoil, but my findings did not support this hypothesis. This outcome was somewhat unexpected as several studies comparing growth performance of tree seedlings in different soil materials found that seedlings performed better when growing on a peat-mineral mix (PMM) than on a forest floor material (FFM) (Pinno et al. 2012; Quideau et al. 2013; Pinno and Errington 2015). However, the PMM used in these studies contained only 16-26% SOM, which was considerably lower than the 34% SOM of the peat material used in this study. Furthermore, the peat material used can have very different physical and chemical properties, depending on its origin (e.g. peat building species) and the degree of decomposition (e.g. salvage depth) (Boelter 1966; Hayward and Clymo 1982; Rezanezhad et al. 2010; Rahgozar and Saberian 2016) and inclusions of other materials.

Soil organic matter is often considered a key indicator of reclamation soil quality (Rajan et al. 2010; Bodlák et al. 2012) because it plays an important role in nutrient cycling and water holding capacity, which has been linked to improved growth performance of plants (Berg and Laskowski 2005; Wolken et al. 2010). However, in this study the material with the highest OM content (peat) did not result in the best seedling growth performance. This was likely the result of the observed excessive soil moisture and low growing season soil temperatures. The Peat took much longer than the FFM to warm up in the spring, likely due to the peat's insulating properties. Rapid soil warming in the spring is particularly important in cold climates with short growing seasons as low soil temperatures can inhibit plant growth (Bonan and Shugart 1989; Bonan 1989; Landhäusser et al. 1996, 2001, 2003; Wan et al. 1999; Peng and Dang 2003; Wolken et al. 2011). Excessively high soil moisture, low soil aeration and low soil temperatures have all been linked to reduced biological activity including restricted tree root growth (Islam and Macdonald 2005). Differences in soil temperature between Peat and FFM were particularly prominent in the capping treatments with 30 cm peat as topsoil, in which the soil temperature at 35 cm depth was much lower (4°C lower on average) in the 2013 and 2014 growing season than in the treatments

with FFM. When reducing the thickness of the peat to 10 cm, soil temperatures were similar to those in the FFM. This suggests that pure peat material can have negative effects on early seedling growth, which contradicts my second hypothesis that thicker topsoil application would result in better seedling growth due to greater water and nutrient availability than subsoil. My findings do not support this hypothesis, because none of the species had better growth when the topsoil layer increased in thickness. While there was no difference in FFM, growth was reduced with the thicker peat material (Peat30), which likely was related to the soil temperature limitations outlined above. Interestingly aspen seedlings on both FFM thicknesses and the Peat10 treatments were similar in height after three growing seasons, which also indicates that the presence of higher soil organic matter in the surface layer alone will not result in better seedling growth. Several studies conducted in natural stands in the Canadian boreal forest suggest that seedling establishment and growth can be greatly affected by peat thickness (Greene et al. 2007; Gewehr et al. 2014; Lafleur et al. 2015). Greene et al. (2007) found that seedling survival of trembling aspen, jack pine and black spruce was negatively correlated with peat thickness after fire disturbance, while Gewehr et al. (2014) and Lafleur et al. (2015) went even further suggesting that a threshold of peat thickness of 20 - 30 cm limits trembling aspen distribution. They concluded that peat accumulation greater than 25 cm leads to waterlogged conditions, low nitrogen availability and low soil temperatures.

Root growth of most boreal tree species is considered to be severely restricted below 5°C soil temperature (Chapin III 1977), although some species, including white spruce, are more tolerant of low soil temperatures. Landhäusser et al. (2001) found that one-year-old trembling aspen seedlings had no measurable root growth at 5°C soil temperature, while spruce seedlings increased root mass. Height growth was similarly affected by low soil temperature, with aspen seedlings growing at 5°C soil temperature being much smaller than those growing at 25°C, while spruce height growth showed no change in response to the different soil temperatures. In addition, pine seedlings showed little to no root and shoot growth at soil temperatures below 5°C (Black and Bliss 1980; Lopushinsky and Max 1990; Peng and Dang 2003; Karst and Landhäusser 2014). Moreover, nutrient and water uptake is severely restricted at low soil temperatures (Cooper 1973; Bowen 1996; Wan et al. 1999). For example, Dong et al. (2001)

found that one-year-old apple trees (*Malus domestica* Borkh) increased ¹⁵N uptake with increasing soil temperatures above 12°C.

Peat used in this study had a pH of 7.4, while the pH of FFM was only 5.6 (Table 2-1). Soil pH is known to have a strong effect on nutrient availability (Van Den Driessche 1978; Jenkins 2013), water uptake (Tang et al. 1993) and plant growth (McCormick and Amendola 1983; Böhlenius et al. 2016). In hydroponic systems, trembling aspen and jack pine were found to have reduced growth above a neutral pH, while spruce growth appears to be less sensitive to solution pH (Zhang et al. 2013). The results from my study appear to support these findings as aspen and pine seedlings growing on FFM had about two times greater seedling dry mass than seedlings growing on peat, while spruce dry mass was similar on both topsoil materials (Table 2-5). In my first hypothesis I suggested that seedling growth on FFM would be limited by nitrogen, which would be expressed by lower foliar N concentrations compared to seedlings growing on peat topsoil. That hypothesis was only partially supported by the data, as foliar N was only lower in aspen leaves (1.66 %) and spruce needles (1.25 %) when growing on FFM, while foliar N in pine was similar when growing on FFM and Peat (1.41 %). Further, foliar nutrient concentrations were not affected by topsoil application thickness (see above), but only by topsoil material. According to recommendations of Van den Burg (1990) and Swan (1971), the N concentrations of aspen leaves and spruce needles in my study indicate a slight nitrogen deficiency when growing on FFM compared to a sufficient supply of nitrogen on peat. Foliar P concentration in aspen leaves (0.12 %) indicated a deficiency when seedlings were growing on peat (Van den Burg 1990). This was expected, because phosphorus concentrations in the Peat treatments were five times lower than the concentrations in the FFM material (Table 2-1). Interestingly, spruce had lower foliar phosphorus concentrations when growing on FFM (0.13%)compared to peat (0.15 %), which is considered adequate (Swan 1971). Foliar N and P concentrations in pine needles were not statistically different between the two topsoil materials, and for both materials phosphorus could be considered deficient (0.12 %) according to Swan (1972) and Weetman et al. (1985). This was somewhat unexpected and seems to suggest that each tree species has very species-specific nutrient requirements that also depend on growth rate, and suggest that foliar nutrient concentrations cannot be predicted readily by soil nutrient

concentrations (Hogberg 2017). It also indicates that the different tree species would benefit from species-specific fertilization regimes: pine could potentially benefit from phosphorus addition on both topsoil materials; aspen might benefit from nitrogen fertilization on FFM and phosphorus additions on Peat; and spruce could benefit from a nitrogen and phosphorus combination on FFM.

More recent literature suggests that N:P ratios can be used as an indicator for nitrogen- or phosphorus-limitation (Tessier and Raynal 2003). High N:P ratios (>16) are generally associated with phosphorus limitation, while low N:P ratios (<14) are associated with nitrogen limitation (Koerselman and Meuleman 1996). Taking those thresholds as indication for nutrient limitations, and also considering the thresholds for foliar nutrient concentration, only aspen N:P ratios were consistent with the findings. Aspen had an N:P ratio of 10 on the FFM material, which indicates nitrogen limitation, while it had an N:P ratio of 21 on Peat indicating a phosphorus limitation. Pine and spruce N:P ratios (9 and 12), however, always indicated nitrogen limitation, which was not consistent with the findings from the foliar nutrient measurements. This supports the suggestion that N:P ratios are influenced by the species, its age and what plant organ is measured (Güsewell 2004), thus there might be a need to determine species specific N:P ratios, which can then be used as thresholds, in order to define possible nutrient limitations and thus develop targeted fertilization prescriptions.

Tree seedlings may respond to nutrient limitations, particularly nitrogen and phosphorus limitations, with increased allocation to root growth and higher root mass ratio (RMR) (Wilson 1988; Ingestad and Agren 1991; Ericsson 1995; McDonald et al. 1996). In my study, however, allocation to root and stem appeared to be unaffected by soil material and soil nutrient concentration for aspen and pine seedlings, despite greater total biomass on the FFM material. Spruce seedlings, however, located more biomass to stems and roots when growing on the Peat treatments, which would indicate an overall nutrient limitation when growing on peat. This is, however, inconsistent with the findings of the foliar nutrient concentrations, where spruce had N and P deficiencies when growing on FFM. This indicates that in our setting, biomass allocation is not a good predictor for nutrient limitations. Other sources identified light (Monnier et al. 2013; Chmura et al. 2017), water (Brouder and Volenec 2008), competition with other plants (Bockstette et al. 2017) and the plant species itself (Shukla and Ramakrishnan 1984; Islam and Macdonald 2005) as possible drivers for different biomass allocation. There is also an ongoing discussion as to whether biomass allocation is driven by environmental conditions (balanced growth hypothesis (Thornley 1972; Hunt 1975)) or is genetically predetermined (allometric growth hypothesis (Pearsall 1923; Troughton 1956)) (Müller et al. 2000; Shipley and Meziane 2002). Only aspen and spruce allocated more biomass to leaves when growing on the Peat treatments, which may be a response to the greater water availability during the growing season. The volumetric water content (VWC) of peat never went below 0.25 cm³ cm⁻³ during the three growing seasons (Stack unpublished data), which was close to the approximate permanent wilting point (PWP) of peat (Ojekanmi and Chang 2014). However, seedlings growing on the FFM material experienced periods of drought, where the VWC went below the PWP (0.05 cm³ cm⁻³) several times and for longer periods during the growing season.

At this early regeneration stage, the subsoil materials appear to have very limited effect on seedling growth (third hypothesis: Integrating a selectively salvaged subsoil material that has higher phosphorous concentrations (Bm) rather than a blended subsoil salvaged from greater depths (B/C and C horizon) will improve seedling growth, irrespective of topsoil material). Only aspen growth was greater when topsoil was underlain by the subsoil with higher phosphorus availability (Bm) (Fig. 2-5 (b)). This response became apparent in the third growing season after planting, when the seedlings had the majority of their roots in the Bm subsoil layer (Bockstette 2017). Aspen reacts positively to phosphorus fertilization with increased height growth, seedling survival and foliar P concentrations (van den Driessche et al. 2003, 2005; Liang and Chang 2004; Pinno et al. 2012).

In my fourth hypothesis I suggested that a thicker cap over the lean oil sand (LOS) would improve seedling growth. This was partially confirmed in this study, as seedlings of all species showed better growth on treatments with capping depths greater than 30cm in the third growing season (2014); however, there were no differences among the caps of 60 to 150 cm (Fig. 2-6(a;c;e)). In addition, this difference only became apparent in the last year of observation, indicating the Peat treatments played a greater role this early in the seedling growth than the total thickness of the cap. It is suspected that the response could have been more pronounced if the

topsoil material had been FFM and the seedlings would have had greater growth and development of a root system. The response is not clear at this early stage of development, but it could be expected that growth and productivity will separate more in time, while these trees get bigger and the root systems occupy larger soil volumes. McConnaughay and Bazzaz (1991) demonstrated that a greater accessible soil volume alone significantly increased biomass of four herbaceous species, although they also found sensitivity to soil volume varied among species. In this study, the soil volume in the Cap30 treatment was considerably smaller than the soil volume in the other three thicker caps (Cap60-150). However, this treatment had 30 cm of peat directly underlain by lean oil sands overburden (LOS), which might have also been a barrier for root expansion, as observational data indicate that roots did not penetrate into the LOS material at this early stage in regeneration. The underlying reasons for this are not clear; physical (e.g. bulk density) or chemical (e.g. hydrocarbon content) properties of the LOS might play a role (Paragon Soil and Environment Consulting Inc. 2006; Kessler et al. 2010; Fleming et al. 2012; Korbas 2013). Regardless, the smaller available rooting volume in combination with the poor growing conditions in the Peat treatments (see above) likely contributed to the poor performance of the seedlings in this treatment. The observed responses of seedlings to total capping thickness should, however, be viewed with caution, as seedlings are still small and root systems have not yet fully developed. It is expected that potential differences should become more evident when these stands develop maximum leaf area.

In summary, the topsoil material type appears to be the main driver for seedling growth during early regeneration, with seedlings performing much better when growing on FFM than Peat. Low soil temperature in the Peat was apparently the main factor restricting seedling growth; however, nutrient limitations (i.e. phosphorous) might have also played a role. This response became most apparent when comparing the thickness of the Peat layer, where seedlings growing with 10 cm Peat performed as well as seedlings with FFM topsoil. This suggests that salvaged peat material should only be used sparingly, or potentially mixed with underlying mineral soil material to reduce the insulating qualities of this topsoil material. It is also uncertain if the peat material of this study is unique and if similar results would occur across the range of peats used in oil sands reclamation. In contrast, the thickness of the FFM material did not affect seedling

growth performance. Subsoil had only little effect on seedling growth during this early regeneration stage, with only larger aspen seedlings responding to subsoil conditions. Overall, aspen appears to be the species most sensitive to the treatments I tested, likely due to its faster growth rates and its need to quickly develop a large root system.

1 2.5 Tables

2 3

Table 2-1: Physical and chemical	properties (mean	(SD)) of ASCS	soil materials measured in 2012	. Different letters indicate
			a)	

4	statistically significant	differences	among material	types ($(\alpha = 0.1)$	1) (1	n = 3).
---	---------------------------	-------------	----------------	---------	------------------	-------	-------	----

Sail matariala	Te	opsoil		Subsoil		Overburden
Son materials	FFM	Peat	Bm	B/C	С	LOS
Salvage depth (cm)	0-15	0-mineral contact*	15-50	50-100	15-250	n/a
BD (g cm ⁻³)	1.1 (0.06) d	0.6 (0.04) e	1.6 (0.05) bc	1.7 (0.04) a	1.5 (0.03) c	1.6 (0.03) b
Sand (%)	91.6 (1.2) b	n/a	93.2 (0.4) ab	94.7 (0.3) a	94.4 (1.7) a	59 (1.7) c
Silt (%)	4 (0.9) b	n/a	2.6 (0.5) c	1.2 (0.2) d	2.1 (1.1) cd	28.7 (1.3) a
Clay (%)	4.4 (0.3) b	n/a	4.3 (0.2) bc	4.2 (0.2) bc	3.7 (0.7) c	12.3 (0.4) a
Bitumen (%)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	2.7 (0.9)
SOM (%)	2.6 (0.5) b	34.1 (2.6) a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
TOC (%)	1.3 (0.3) b	17 (1.3) a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
TON (%)	0.04 (0.01) b	0.74 (0.04) a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
pН	5.6 (0.2) e	7.4 (0.1) b	6 (0.3) d	7.3 (0.1) b	6.7 (0.2) c	7.7 (0.01) a
EC (ds m^{-1})	0.2 (0.004) c	1.2 (0.1) b	0.2 (0.02) c	0.3 (0.03) c	0.2 (0.04) c	2.4 (0.1) a
SAR	0.2 (0.01) b	0.6 (0.07) b	0.2 (0.01) b	0.3 (0.05) b	0.3 (0.06) b	5.3 (0.6) a
Sat (%)	40 (3.8) b	207 (18) a	31 (0.7) b	30 (0.4) b	33 (0.5) b	40 (0.6) b
N (mg kg ⁻¹)	4.2 (1.1) b	13.8 (2.5) a	2.6 (0.3) bc	2.3 (0) c	2.4 (0.1) c	n/a
NO_3^{-1} (mg kg ⁻¹)	2 (0) b	12.4 (2.5) a	2.3 (0.4) b	2 (0) b	2 (0) b	n/a
$NH_4^+ (mg kg^{-1})$	2.2 (1.1) a	1.3 (0.1) b	0.3 (0.05) c	0.3 (0) c	0.4 (0.1) c	n/a
$P (mg kg^{-1})$	24.6 (0.4) a	5 (0) c	27.6 (4.6) a	10.8 (0.9) b	9.7 (2.4) b	n/a
K^+ (mg kg ⁻¹)	41.2 (7.6) a	35.6 (0.8) b	26.5 (2.7) c	24.8 (1) c	24.9 (0.3) c	11.2 (4.5) d
SO_4^- (mg kg ⁻¹)	5 (0.6) c	482 (149) a	2.7 (0.8) c	4 (0.9) c	4.7 (4.4) c	207 (118) b

5 BD = dry bulk density; SOM = soil organic material; TOC = total organic carbon; TON = total organic nitrogen; EC = electrical conductivity;

6 SAR = sodium adsorption ratio; Sat = saturation; N = nitrogen; NO₃⁻ = nitrate; NH₄⁺ = ammonium; P = phosphorus; K⁺ = potassium; SO₄⁻ = sulfur. 7 *Maximum salvage depths were approximately 300 to 400 cm.

Species	Height (cm)	Shoot mass (g)	Root mass (g)	RSR	Plug height (cm)	Plug diameter (cm)	Plug volume (ml)
Aspen	30 (8.6)	0.7 (0.4)	2.5 (1.2)	3.4	15	6	340
Pine	18.2 (2.8)	2.2 (0.7)	1.3 (0.5)	0.6	12	4	125
Spruce	29 (5.5)	4.5 (1.6)	2.9 (1.4)	0.7	15	6	340

Table 2-2: Initial seedling characteristics (mean (SD)) at out planting in 2012.

RSR = Root shoot ratio

Table 2-3: Annual (2013 – 2014) and growing season (May – September) soil temperature (°C) (mean (SD)) at 15 cm depth for the FFM and Peat treatments. Letters indicate statistically significant effects ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

Year Topsoil material		Annual soil temperature (°C)	Seasonal soil temperature (°C)
2013	FFM	6.3 (0.06) a	19.2 (0.3) a
	Peat	4.9 (0.78) b	17 (0.03) b
2014	FFM	5.7 (0.11) a	18.7 (0.9) a
	Peat	3.6 (1.04) c	15.8 (1) c

Table 2-4: Volumetric soil water content (VWC) (cm3 cm-3) during the growing season (May – September) and number of days with daily soil temperature above 5°C (mean (SD)) at 15 cm depth for the FFM and Peat treatments. Letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effect ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

Topsoil material	Soil water content (cm ³ cm ⁻³)	No of days > 5°C soil temperature
FFM	0.09 (0.03) a	168 (1) a
Peat	0.56 (0.014) b	157 (1) b

Table 2-5: Total biomass, leaf, stem and root mass (g) (mean (SD)) in 2014 of aspen, pine and spruce on FFM and Peat treatments. Different letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

			(g)					
Species	Topsoil material	Total biomass	Leaf mass	Stem mass	Root mass			
A <i>an an</i>	FFM	338 (13) a	54.5 (2.3) a	122.6 (10.2) a	161.3 (7) a			
Aspen	Peat	180 (130) a	32.9 (24.4) a	61.4 (48.2) b	85.5 (59.5) b			
Dine	FFM	246 (37) s	123.4 (21.5) s	91.7 (11) s	31.3 (6.9) s			
Pine	Peat	108 (68) t	55.3 (34.4) t	38 (26.2) t	15 (8.1) t			
	FFM	121 (30) x	56.1 (12.1) x	44.8 (11.8) x	20.4 (6.6) x			
Spruce	Peat	100 (58) x	36.3 (21.9) x	43.2 (25.2) x	20.2 (11) x			

Table 2-6: Leaf area (cm2), root shoot ratio (RSR), leaf mass ratio (LMR), stem mass ratio (SMR) and root mass ratio (RMR) (g g-1) (mean (SD)) in 2014 of aspen, pine and spruce on FFM and Peat treatments. Different letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

		(cm^2)		(g		
Species	Topsoil material	Leaf area	RSR	LMR	SMR	RMR
A are are	FFM	5825 (503) a	1.3 (0.15) a	0.16 (0.003) b	0.37 (0.02) a	0.48 (0.02) a
Aspen	Peat	3099 (2506) a	1.4 (0.25) a	0.18 (0.005) a	0.34 (0.03) a	0.48 (0.04) a
Dino	FFM	6125 (1091) s	0.3 (0.06) s	0.5 (0.02) s	0.37 (0.03) s	0.13 (0.01) s
Pine	Peat	2592 (1636) t	0.5 (0.12) s	0.5 (0.05) s	0.34 (0.03) s	0.15 (0.04) s
Samoo	FFM	2852 (692) x	0.4 (0.06) x	0.47 (0.02) x	0.37 (0.009) y	0.17 (0.01) y
Spruce	Peat	1924 (1237) x	0.5 (0.1) x	0.36 (0.02) y	0.43 (0.01) x	0.21 (0.02) x

Table 2-7: Foliar nutrient concentrations (%) of N and P measured in 2014 and calculated N:P ratio (mean (SD)) of aspen, pine and spruce growing on FFM and Peat treatments. Different letters indicate statistically significant topsoil effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

		Foliar nutrient concentrations (%)					
Species	Topsoil	Ν	Р	N:P			
Aspen	FFM	1.66 (0.09) b	0.16 (0.02) a	10 (0.6) b			
	Peat	2.55 (0.1) a	0.12 (0.02) b	21 (2) a			
Dina	FFM	1.34 (0.06) s	0.12 (0.006) s	11 (0.6) s			
Fille	Peat	1.48 (0.12) s	0.12 (0.01) s	12 (0.6) s			
Comuss	FFM	1.25 (0.06) y	0.13 (0.01) x	9 (0.6) y			
Spruce	Peat	1.84 (0.3) x	0.15 (0.03) x	12 (0.6) x			

Table 2-8: Growing season (May – September) soil temperature (°C) and number of days with average daily soil temperature above 5°C (mean (SD)) at 35 cm depth for the treatments FFM10, FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30. Different letters indicate statistically significant effects ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

		Soil temperature (°C)					
Year	Treatments	Growing season	No of days > 5°C soil temperature				
2013	FFM10	16.3 (0.9) ab	169 (3) a				
	FFM20	16.8 (0.8) ad	167 (1) a				
	Peat10	15.4 (0.8) bc	156 (7) d				
	Peat30	13.5 (0.6) f	158 (4) cd				
	FFM10	15.8 (1.1) cde	166 (2) ab				
2014	FFM20	16.1 (0.6) bc	163 (1) abc				
2014	Peat10	14.6 (1.2) ef	160 (2) bcd				
	Peat30	11.5 (1) g	146 (10) e				

		Foliar nutrient concentrations (%)					
Species	Treatments	Ν	Р	N:P			
	FFM10	1.59 (0.04) b	0.15 (0.007) a	10.7 (0.8) a			
A	FFM20	1.69 (0.03) b	0.16 (0.01) a	10.9 (0.6) a			
Aspen	Peat10	2.18 (0.26) a	0.12 (0.003) a	17.9 (1.8) a			
	Peat30	2.42 (0.13) a	0.16 (0.1) a	19.3 (9.1) a			
	FFM10	1.36 (0.12) s	0.11 (0.002) s	11.9 (1) s			
Dina	FFM20	1.34 (0.06) s	0.12 (0.005) s	11.6 (0.3) s			
Pine	Peat10	1.25 (0.04) s	0.11 (0.009) st	11.5 (0.6) s			
	Peat30	1.43 (0.18) s	0.1 (0.007) t	14.4 (2.7) s			
	FFM10	1.22 (0.05) y	0.14 (0.01) x	8.7 (0.6) z			
C	FFM20	1.25 (0.17) y	0.14 (0.02) x	9.1 (0.4) z			
Spruce	Peat10	1.52 (0.1) xy	0.13 (0.005) xy	12 (0.7) y			
	Peat30	1.73 (0.23) x	0.11 (0.02) y	16.2 (1.1) x			

Table 2-9: Foliar N and P concentrations (%) measured in 2014 and calculated N:P ratio (mean (SD)) of aspen, pine and spruce growing on FFM10, FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30 treatments. Different letters indicate statistically significant treatment effects within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$) (n = 3).

2.6 Figures



Figure 2-1: Map of Aurora Soil Capping Study (ASCS) including all treatments, plantings and planting densities.



Figure 2-2: Capping treatments from the Aurora Soil Capping Study (ASCS) used for comparisons of (a) topsoils (FFM vs Peat), (b) topsoil application thickness (FFM10 vs FFM20 vs Peat10 vs Peat30), (c) topsoil (FFM, Peat) by subsoil (Bm, B/C, C) and (d) total capping thickness (Cap30 vs Cap60 vs Cap100 vs Cap150).



Figure 2-3: Annual height growth (2012-2014) of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (e) spruce and final heights in 2014 of (b) aspen, (d) pine and (f) spruce in response to topsoil materials (forest floor material (FFM) and Peat (Peat)). Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM) (n = 3). Asterisks represent significant topsoil effects within year and species. Different letters represent statistically significant differences among treatment means within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$).



Figure 2-4: Annual height growth (2012 - 2014) of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (e) spruce and final heights in 2014 of (b) aspen, (d) pine and (f) spruce in response to the treatments FFM10, FFM20, Peat10 and Peat30. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM) (n = 3). Asterisks represent significant treatment effects within year and species. Different letters represent statistically significant differences among treatment means within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$).



Figure 2-5: Final heights of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (d) spruce in response to topsoil materials (FFM and peat) (n = 9) and (b) aspen in response to subsoil materials (Bm, B/C and C) (n = 6) in 2014. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM). Different letters represent statistically significant differences among treatment means within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$).



Figure 2-6: Annual height growth (2012 - 2014) of (a) aspen, (c) pine and (e) spruce and final heights in 2014 of (b) aspen, (d) pine and (f) spruce in response to total capping depth Cap30, Cap60, Cap100 and Cap150. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm SEM) (n = 3). Asterisks represent significant treatment effects within year and species. Letters represent statistically significant differences among treatment means within each species ($\alpha = 0.1$).

Chapter 3 - Aspen seedling establishment on reclamation sites lacking topsoil cover – impacts of biochar and fertilizer amendments

3.1 Introduction

Surface mining for resources such as minerals, bitumen and coal creates large areas where all vegetation, soil, and geological materials (overburden) are removed to access the resource. After surface mining is completed, reclamation of these areas takes place to create a landscape which can be used by humans (agricultural or recreational land) or wildlife (wildland areas). After constructing the landforms with overburden material, reclamation practices typically involve the placement of salvaged surface or topsoil materials that supply essential resources such as water and nutrients and support plant growth. This soil material is often salvaged from areas that are prospected for further resource extraction, and it is either directly placed on areas to be reclaimed, or stored for future use. However, once the resources are exhausted and mining activities are to be terminated, there may be a shortage of these topsoil materials, and thus final reclamation operations must rely on less suitable, unconsolidated mineral soil materials. Unconsolidated mineral soil material, unlike topsoil, contains little to no soil organic matter (SOM), which plays an important role in nutrient cycling and water storage (Berg and Laskowski 2005). As a result, regenerating plants may experience severe nutrient and water limitations (Larchevêque et al. 2014), which can seriously restrict their establishment and early growth performance and therefore hinder the development of a vegetation cover. Mining areas that are located in an agricultural setting often use the salvaged topsoils to reclaim agricultural fields and pasture. Areas that lack these topsoils are considered marginal and are often slated for forest reclamation.

One measure to allow for forest establishment on these marginal sites is to select appropriate tree species and nursery stock types that may withstand site limiting conditions. In Alberta, prime agricultural areas are located in the prairie-boreal forest ecotone (Parkland) where trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.) dominates the forested landscapes (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Aspen has become a widely used tree species in afforestation and reclamation of disturbed sites in Alberta because it is a relatively drought tolerant native tree species, and can provide early crown closure due to its rapid height and lateral shoot growth

(McDonough 1979; Swanson et al. 2010; Schott 2013). Aspen seedling stock characteristics have been identified that result in improved establishment under stressful conditions (Landhäusser et al. 2012; Kulbaba 2014). Further, aspen's ability to produce suckers from a large root system (Peterson and Peterson 1992; Frey et al. 2003; Fitzgerald 2010) provides increased resiliency to these newly developing forests (Macdonald et al. 2012, 2015).

Another measures to overcome these soil limitations is the use of soil amendments that can be applied or incorporated into the surface soil using a range of organic (e.g. straw, sawdust, compost, sludge, manure) or inorganic (e.g. sand, vermiculite, perlite, crumb rubber, fertilizer) materials. Depending on the soil amendment and its properties, the soils physical (e.g., water holding capacity and soil structure) (Gruenthal 1999) and chemical properties can be affected (Land Resource Network and Land Resource Network Ltd. 1993; Larney and Angers 2012).

An organic material currently attracting a lot of attention is pyrolysed biomass, which, when used to alter soil quality, is referred to as biochar. Biochar has been shown to increase agricultural yields on marginal soils by increasing soil moisture and nutrient retention while reducing leaching (Asai et al. 2009; Ding et al. 2010; Kammann et al. 2011; Jones et al. 2012; Mulcahy et al. 2013). In recent years, biochar has been increasingly used in reclamation settings, where it is mainly applied for the restoration of contaminated soils with heavy metals and organic and inorganic pollutants (Beesley et al. 2011; Fellet et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015; Lwin et al. 2018). Depending on the feedstock material (e.g. wood, straw, chicken manure) and pyrolysis process (temperature and duration of pyrolysis) (Mukherjee et al. 2011), biochar has a very large surface area due to its porous structure (Beesley et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015). These pores can be infiltrated by water, which can then be slowly released back into the surrounding soil material decreasing evapotranspiration (Tryon 1948; Scott et al. 2014) and, in turn, increasing water holding capacity (Chan et al. 2007; Karhu et al. 2011) and water availability for plants (Tryon 1948). Its large surface area and negative charge (Mukherjee et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015) can further function as an interface for cation exchange and thus improve the cation exchange capacity (CEC), thereby reducing the leaching of plant available soil nutrients such as K⁺ and NH₄⁺ (Sika and Hardie 2014). Particularly in combination with fertilization, the use of biochar is thought to prolong nutrient availability (Atkinson et al. 2010), suggesting that this

combination might be a suitable amendment that could improve nutrient availability in these unconsolidated mineral subsoil materials.

The objectives of this field experiment were to test the effects of (i) biochar on survival, growth, and allocation of planted aspen *(Populus tremuloides Michx.)* seedlings with and without a mineral fertilizer addition, and (ii) to evaluate how these applications affect water and nutrient availability for the planted aspen. The results of this study will be used to improve best management practices.

Based on the evidence in the literature, my underlying hypotheses were:

(1) A soil amendment of biochar will improve soil water availability and thus aspen seedling survival and growth, and

(2) In combination with the addition of a fertilizer, biochar will improve soil nutrient availability and aspen seedling growth further.

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Site description

The study site is located at the Whitewood coal mine (53° 33' N, 114° 29' W), near the town of Wabamun, Alberta, approximately 70 km west of Edmonton. Strip mining for coal occurred from 1962 to 2010, and reclamation began in the late 1980s with the East Pit Lake (Brocke and Chymco 1991) and has occurred progressively across the 1900 ha of mined land (Hudson 2013). Reclamation included the return to both agriculture and wildland areas, with the research site located within the wildlands area of the mine, which has a lack of suitable topsoil as well as abundant erosion. The study area is located in the Dry Mixedwood natural subregion of the boreal forest, with trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) and white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss.) in pure or mixed stand forests (Natural Regions Committee 2006).

The upland soils in these aspen forests of this subregion are typically Orthic Gray Luvisols, which have eluvial Ae and Bt horizons that develop when the mean annual soil temperature is < 8°C. Dark Gray Luvisols are found in the cultivated areas of this subregion, and have eluvial features combined with an Ah and Ahe horizon of \geq 5 cm in thickness (Soil Classification Working Group 1998; Natural Regions Committee 2006). No topsoil was available for reclamation of this study area and as a result the surface soil material within the study area was composed of unconsolidated mineral subsoil material with pH of 8.1, total nitrogen (N) of 12.14 mg kg⁻¹, nitrate (NO₃⁻) of 10.7 mg kg⁻¹ and phosphorus (P) of 0.58 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 3-1; Liu 2014). According to the "Soil Quality Criteria relative to Disturbance and Reclamation" (Soil Quality Working Group 2004) the texture (sandy loam) and pH are considered "fair"; while the nutrient contents of total nitrogen, nitrate and phosphorus, and the overall nutrient supply was considered "very low" (Hazelton and Murphy 2016b). Competition by ground vegetation was low (< 10% ground cover) across all blocks and treatments and consisted mainly of early successional, introduced species, which are common for early reclamation sites (Wilson 2016).

The climate in the Dry Mixedwood natural subregion is characterized by cold winters and short growing seasons (May – September) of about 98 frost free days (Natural Regions Committee 2006). The climate normal during the growing season (May – September) for this region (1981-2010) is 13.9°C mean air temperature and 343.4 mm total precipitation (Government of Canada 2018). Air temperature for the 2012 through 2014 growing season was 14.8, 14.8 and 14.1°C and total accumulated precipitation was 368, 242 and 252 mm, respectively (weather station: Edmonton Stony Plain CS; 53°32'50.080" N, 114°06'30.070" W).

3.2.2 Experimental design

A complete block design was used to setup the study on approximately 2.5 ha of land at the Whitewood mine, creating five blocks (each 0.5 ha); each block included all treatments (Fig. 3-1). One-year old trembling aspen stock with container plug dimensions of 6 cm diameter and 15 cm depth (615A StyroblockTM; 340 ml) (Beaver Plastics Ltd, Acheson, Alberta) (Table 3-2) were commercially grown at the Smoky Lake Forest Nursery Ltd. (Smoky Lake, Alberta, Canada) using operational protocols described in Landhäusser et al. (2012). The seedlings had an average initial height of 28 (\pm 1.5 SD) cm, and were hand-planted at regular 1.3 x 1.3 m spacing throughout the research blocks at a density equivalent to 7700 stems ha⁻¹ in May 2012. Two different soil amendments were used in this study: biochar and a slow release fertilizer. The biochar was derived from lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta Dougl.) biomass and was produced by a slow pyrolysis process (two hours at 400-500°C), had a pH of 7.3, total organic carbon of 56%, total organic nitrogen of 1.3 %, and a bulk density of 232 kg m⁻³ (Table 3-1). The biochar was applied at two levels: no biochar and 1670 kg ha⁻¹ (0.54 % by volume). Biochar was spread manually in October 2011 and was disked into the soil to a depth of 20 cm, using a tractor with a disk harrow (Liu 2014). Polyon[®] nursery blend 19-6-13 (N-P-K) plus minors controlled-release fertilizer (Agrium Advanced Technologies Direct Solutions, Calgary, Canada) with an 8-9 month nutrient release period was used for the fertilizer amendment. The fertilizer contained 19 % total nitrogen from ammonium, nitrate and urea nitrogen, 6 % phosphoric acid, 13 % soluble potash, 5 % sulphur and ≤ 1 % iron, manganese, molybdenum, zinc and copper. Application of fertilizer occurred in June 2012 using a manual seed spreader. The fertilizer was applied at three levels: no fertilizer, fertilizer at an equivalent of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ (low), and fertilizer at an equivalent of 100 kg N ha⁻¹ (high). To limit the potential of fertilizer contamination of the unfertilized plots from soil leaching and run-off, we applied fertilizer to the treatment plots located downslope. Together these resulted in six treatment combinations: an unamended control (C), biochar only (B),

fertilizer only (low rate equiv. 50 kg N ha⁻¹; FL), fertilizer only (high rate equiv. 100 kg N ha⁻¹; FH), combined biochar and low rate fertilizer (BFL) and combined biochar and high rate fertilizer (BFH) (Fig. 3-1).

3.2.3 Soil water content and plant available soil nutrients

To determine if biochar affected soil moisture conditions, volumetric soil water content (VWC) was measured at a soil depth of 10 and 30 cm using 5TM sensors connected to EM50 data loggers (Decagon Devices Inc., Pullman, Washington, USA). One 5TM sensor per each depth (10 and 30 cm) was installed in the biochar and the no biochar treatments of each block (Fig 3-1). VWC was recorded in two-hour intervals and then averaged for each day for the years 2013 and 2014. The daily means from May through September were then averaged to determine the average growing season VWC at 10 and 30 cm soil depth. Due to some sensor malfunctions at the 10 cm soil depth, only three replications (n = 3) could be used for VWC analysis at this depth, while a replication of five (n = 5) was used for the VWC at 30 cm soil depth.

To estimate the effect of biochar and fertilizer on plant available soil nutrients, Plant-Root-Simulator (PRSTM) - probes were installed in each tree measurement plot. One pair of PRSTM - probes (one anions probe and one cations probe) were buried on July 12th, 2013 to a depth of 15 cm in every corner of the tree measurement plots (described below: "Mortality and seedling growth"). They were recovered on September 4th, 2013 after an eight-week burial period. The PRSTM - probes were cleaned with de-ionized water, placed in plastic bags and sent to Western Ag Innovations (Saskatoon, Canada) for analyses. PRSTM - probes capture a range of ions, but we were mostly interested in nitrogen (nitrate (NO₃⁻) and ammonium (NH4⁺)), phosphate (H₂PO₄⁻), potassium (K⁺) and sulphate (SO₄²⁻) (2010 Western Ag, Saskatoon, Canada). Nitrate and ammonium were measured colorimetrically by an automated flow injection analysis system using the Lachat QuickChem AE Automated Flow Injection Ion Analyzer (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1991). Nitrate and ammonium were combined to calculate total nitrogen (N). All other nutrients were measured by inductively coupled plasma spectrometry (ICP-OES, Thermo Fisher, USA).

3.2.4 Mortality and seedling growth

In the center of each treatment plot a tree measurement plot $(10 \times 10 \text{ m})$ was established, which contained 64 aspen seedlings each (8 x 8 seedlings) at the start of the study (64 subsamples). Between 2012 and 2014, seedling height and root collar diameter (RCD) were measured at the end of each growing season (August) and averaged per treatment plot. RCD was measured to the nearest 0.1 mm and used in 2013 to identify representative seedlings per treatment for biomass harvest (data not presented) (see below: "Biomass, leaf area and biomass allocation"). Seedling height was measured in a pre-determined pattern identical for each tree measurement plot, in order to calculate individual seedling height growth. Height growth was calculated by subtracting the last year's height from the current year's height. To determine seedling mortality, all dead or missing seedlings were counted within the tree measurement plots.

3.2.5 Biomass, leaf area and biomass allocation

To determine above and below ground biomass and biomass allocation of the aspen seedlings after two growing seasons, seedlings were harvested in August/September 2013 and May 2014. To identify representative seedlings in each treatment, RCD was measured in the tree measurement plots in 2013 and averaged. Three seedlings (subsamples) with that average RCD were then selected in each treatment plot, but outside of the tree measurement plots, and excavated carefully to capture the majority of the root system. In total, 90 seedlings were excavated (three per treatment plot). The aboveground part (stem and leaves) of the seedlings was harvested in August/September 2013 and root systems were excavated in May 2014. The excavated seedlings were cold stored in the field and frozen until processing. During processing, roots, stems and leaves were separated, and roots were carefully washed to remove the attached soil. The stems and roots were then dried at 70°C to constant weight. To determine seedling leaf area, all leaves from the harvested trees were separated from the stem and scanned with a LI-3100 Area Meter (LI-Cor Inc., Nebraska, USA). All leaves were then dried at 70°C and weighed. To explore changes in biomass allocation between organs in response to treatments, leaf mass ratio (LMR), stem mass ratio (SMR) and root mass ratio (RMR) were calculated by dividing leaf, stem, or root dry mass by the total dry mass for each individual seedling.

3.2.6 Foliar nutrient analysis

Leaf samples for foliar nutrient analysis were collected in September 2013 within the tree measurement plots. To avoid spatial differences in the tree measurement plots, leaf samples were collected from every second seedling in every second row across the tree measurement plots (16 seedlings in total). Leaves (3-4 per seedling) were carefully removed to minimize damage to the seedling, placed in a cooler for transport and subsequently stored at -15°C until they were processed. Samples were dried at 70°C to constant weight, ground with a Wiley mill (Thomas Scientific, New Jersey, USA) to 40 mesh (0.4 mm), and sent for nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) analysis to a commercial laboratory (Natural Resources Analytical Laboratory (NRAL), University of Alberta). N concentration (%) was measured by combustion and P concentration (μ g g⁻¹) was measured by microwave digestion (using HNO₃) followed by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES). P was subsequently converted into per cent concentration (%). Concentrations of N and P were used to calculate the N:P ratios per treatment plot.

3.2.7 Data analysis

All analyses used linear mixed effect models with block as a random factor with the "Ime" function from the "nlme" package in RStudio (version 3.0.2, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2013). To test for possible year by fertilizer, year by biochar, or year by fertilizer by biochar interactions, annual seedling height growth was analyzed as repeated measure three-way ANOVA. The treatment variable fertilizer had three levels (0, 50, 100 kg N ha⁻¹), the treatment variable biochar had two levels (biochar and no biochar) and measurement year had three levels (2012, 2013 and 2014). The model was y (seedling height growth) = fertilizer * biochar * year, with block as random factor (error) and year as the repeated variable. Volumetric soil water content (VWC) was analyzed as a two-way ANOVA between year (2013, 2014) and biochar with two levels (biochar and no biochar) to test for a possible year by biochar interaction. All other response variables (final height, RCD, biomass, biomass fractions, foliar nutrient concentrations and ratios, mortality and plant available soil nutrients) were analyzed using two-way ANOVAS with the factor biochar with two levels (biochar and no biochar) to test for a possible year by biochar) and the factor fertilizer with three levels (0, 50, 100 kg N ha⁻¹), to test for a possible biochar by fertilizer

interaction. Prior to each statistical analysis, normality of data and homogeneity of variances were tested on residuals using Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's test using the package "car". If main effects were significant in the ANOVA (p = 0.05), Fisher's LSD tests were performed using the package "agricolea". A significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ was chosen with five replications (n = 5) (VWC at 30 cm soil depth, final height, RCD, biomass, biomass fractions, foliar nutrient concentrations and ratios, mortality and plant available soil nutrients) and with three replications (n = 3) (VWC at 10 cm soil depth).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Volumetric soil water content and available soil nutrients

Volumetric water content (VWC) at 10 cm (21%) and 30 cm (23%) soil depth was similar across all treatments and years (all p > 0.07), no biochar effect was detected (all p > 0.07).

Only plant available nitrate was higher in treatments without biochar application (biochar effect: p = 0.03; Fig. 3-2), but it was not affected by fertilization (fertilizer effect: p = 0.51) or the combination of both soil amendments (fertilizer by biochar interaction: p = 0.94). All other tested soil nutrients (total nitrogen, ammonium, phosphate, potassium and sulphate) were similar across all treatments (all p > 0.06).

3.3.2 Seedling responses

After three growing seasons (2012-2014), mortality was 16% across all treatments. Biochar, fertilization or the combination of both had no effect on seedling mortality (all p > 0.08). Root collar diameter (RCD) was similar across all treatments with 9.8 mm (all p > 0.12).

Annual height growth of the seedlings was similar in 2012 and 2014 (14 and 15 cm, respectively) across all treatments; however, in 2013, aspen seedling height growth was less than 2012 and 2014 with an average of 11 cm (year effect: p = 0.005; Fig. 3-3). Seedling height growth was greater in the treatments with a high fertilizer application rate (15 cm) than in the no fertilizer treatment (11 cm), while height growth in the low fertilizer treatment (13 cm) was similar to the high and no fertilizer treatment (fertilizer effect: p = 0.009; Fig. 3-4). Biochar had no effect on seedling height growth (p = 0.53) across all years. After three growing seasons (2012-2014), aspen seedlings were taller in treatments with the high fertilizer application (77 cm) than in the control (63 cm), while seedling height in the low fertilizer treatment was similar to the high and no fertilizer treatments (fertilizer effect: p = 0.01; Fig. 3-5). Biochar had no effect on seedling height after three growing seasons (biochar effect: p = 0.65).

Total biomass, stem, root and leaf mass, as well as leaf area, RMR and LMR of aspen seedlings after two growing seasons (2013) were similar across all treatments. Biochar, fertilization or the combination of both had no effect on those seedling traits (all p > 0.06). Only SMR was higher in seedlings that grew in treatments that had biochar added (biochar effect: p = 0.03; Table 3-2) and RSR was higher in treatments without biochar (biochar effect: p = 0.04; Table 3-2). Fertilization had no effect on SMR or RSR (all p > 0.57).

Foliar N and P concentrations and the N:P ratio (18) were not different among all treatments (all p > 0.53). Foliar nitrogen (N) concentration was 1.9 % (± 0.2) and phosphorus (P) concentration was 0.10 % (± 0.01) in 2013 averaged across all treatments.

3.4 Discussion

I had hypothesized that amending a surface soil material composed of unconsolidated mineral subsoil material with biochar during mine reclamation would increase water and nutrient availability and thereby improve seedling survival and growth (first hypothesis). This hypothesis was not supported by my findings. The addition of biochar did not increase soil water content in 10 or 30 cm soil depth. This was somewhat surprising, as other studies have found strong positive evidence of biochar on soil water holding capacity (Gaskin et al. 2007; Ouyang et al. 2013; Raave et al. 2014; Prober et al. 2014). For example Prober et al. (2014) found a 6 – 25 % increase in VWC when a green-waste biochar was applied to a clay loam at 20,000 kg ha⁻¹. Ouyang et al. (2013) added 2 % (by weight) of a dairy manure biochar to different soil types and found a 5.2 % increase in water content for a silty clay and a 10.6 % increase for a sandy loam. The reclamation substrate in this study had a clay loam texture. These findings suggest that the effect of added biochar on soil hydrological properties depend on soil texture, as well as the type and amount of biochar used (Lewis et al. 2006; Mulcahy et al. 2013; Dan et al. 2015; Omondi et al. 2016; Teßin 2016; Li et al. 2018). However, the difference of VWC at 30 cm soil depth between the biochar and no biochar treatments was close to be statistically significant (p = 0.07) and this difference resulted in soils being on average below the wilting point in the no biochar treatments (21%), but above the wilting point in the biochar amended treatments (24%) during the 2013 and 2014 growing season. According to Saxton and Rawls (2006) the wilting point for the clay-loam soil texture is around 22 % VWC. Further, the addition of biochar had a marginal positive effect on seedling survival (p = 0.08). Seedling mortality was 18 % in plots without biochar, but only 14 % in plots with biochar. It is possible that the somewhat higher water content in the biochar treatments was responsible for this marginal decrease in seedling mortality. This leads me to the assumption that the quantity of biochar added during this experiment (1670 kg ha⁻¹) was not large enough to see conclusive improvements in VWC and seedling survival.

Further, the biochar subsoil amendment in this study did not lead to an increase in soil nutrient availability. In fact, nitrate availability was two times lower in treatments with biochar (Fig. 3-2). The addition of biochar has been shown to increase the cation exchange capacity (CEC) of the

soil and thus increase the retention of nutrients (Sohi et al. 2010; Fellet et al. 2011; Scott et al. 2014). This is generally attributed to biochar's large surface area, high porosity and negative charge (Atkinson et al. 2010; Mukherjee et al. 2011; Sizmur et al. 2015). Raave et al. (2014) tested the effect of biochar on nitrogen leaching from a sandy loam soil and found that leaching of nitrate, but not ammonium, was reduced. In a similar experiment with a sandy soil, Sika and Hardie (2014) also found that biochar-amended soils contained less exchangeable nitrate than the control soils without biochar. They argued that the inorganic nitrogen may have been physically absorbed by the biochar, assimilated by microbes or lost in gaseous form (Sika and Hardie 2014).

The addition of biochar did not increase seedling growth, height or RCD after three growing seasons. Accordingly, leaf, shoot and root biomass, as well as leaf area, RMR and LMR were not affected by the addition of biochar. However, SMR and RSR were both affected by biochar with seedlings allocating more to shoot mass than to root mass in the biochar treatments. Pluchon et al. (2014) found similar effects of biochar on white birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) and scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), which had lower root-to-shoot ratios with the addition of biochar at 3000 kg ha⁻¹. Not all of the nine biochars examined in this study (derived from different boreal woody species), however, generated such effects. In addition, Wardle et al. (1998) found that root-to-shoot ratios of silver birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) and scots pine decreased with addition of biochar at 2000 kg ha⁻¹, but only in one of the three humus substrates used, which all differed in origin and soil fertility. This suggests that the effect of biochar on biomass partitioning depends highly on biochar's origin and soil material used. For instance, Jeffery et al. (2011) found a significant increase in crop productivity when biochar was added to coarse and medium textured soil, but not to fine textured soil.

I had hypothesized further that biochar in combination with the addition of a slow-release fertilizer, will improve soil nutrient availability and positively affect aspen seedling growth (second hypothesis). This hypothesis was not confirmed, as the addition of biochar alone and biochar in combination with fertilizer did not increase aspen seedling growth or height, nor did it change foliar nutrient concentrations or the N:P ratio in foliage. According to van den Burg (1990) the foliar N concentration (1.9 %) of aspen seedlings in 2013 indicate sufficient supply with nitrogen, while the foliar P concentration (0.10 %) indicates a slight phosphorus deficiency

across all treatments. Also the N:P ratio (18) of aspen foliage indicates a phosphorus shortage according to Koerselman and Meuleman (1996).

Only the greater application of fertilizer led to a significant increase in seedling height growth after three growing seasons, even though measured available soil nutrient in 2013 were similar across all treatments. However, Liu (2014), who tested the efficacy of biochar on soil microbial biomass, soil respiration and heavy metal adsorption in this field study, found that total nitrogen was three to four times higher, while nitrate was eleven to fourteen times higher in FL and FH treatments in 2012, just after the fertilizer application. This is somewhat surprising, as other studies found a carry-over effect of a controlled release fertilizer up to three years (Fan et al. 2002; Moore et al. 2002; Sloan and Jacobs 2013). This lack of a second year fertilizer effect was likely due to the low vegetation cover (< 10%), strong wind and water erosion (personal observation), as well as the fact that the fertilizer had not been incorporated into the soil after broadcasting. Many studies evaluating the growth of planted tree seedlings in response to different fertilizers and application rates found that seedlings grew best with the highest fertilizer applications (Walker and del Moral 2002; DesRochers et al. 2003; van den Driessche et al. 2003, 2005; Walker 2012; Sloan and Jacobs 2013). Especially on poor substrates, like the unconsolidated mineral subsoil material used in this study that had very low total nitrogen, nitrate and phosphorus levels (Hazelton and Murphy 2016b), planted tree seedlings normally respond positively to fertilizer amendments (Walker 2002, 2008, 2012).

Fertilizer appears to be the main driver for the increased seedling growth observed this early on in our study, particularly on this subsoil material. Intra-specific competition effects often observed with fertilization of forest reclamation sites (Schott et al. 2016; Sloan and Jacobs 2013), did not play a role here, likely due to the overall very poor soil nutrient conditions (Wilson 2016). Biochar did not have the desired effect on seedling height growth; however, biochar likely affected soil moisture positively and thus might have reduced seedling mortality. In this study, a relatively low amount of biochar (1670 kg ha⁻¹) was applied to the soil. This amount is comparable to naturally occurring quantities of charcoal in boreal forest soils from past fire events that can range anywhere from 300 to 6000 kg ha⁻¹ (Zackrisson et al. 1996; Bélanger et al. 2004; MacKenzie et al. 2008; Soucémarianadin et al. 2015). Agricultural and remediation studies have applied biochar at rates between 8000 (Asai et al. 2009) and 200,000 kg ha⁻¹ (Kammann et al. 2011). I suspect, that if we had used more biochar for this study, the marginal effects of biochar alone and biochar in combination with fertilizer would have been more pronounced. However, Kammann et al. (2011) found that a high biochar application rate of 200,000 kg ha⁻¹ did not improve plant growth of *Chenopodium quinoa* Willd. (pseudo-cereal) in a greenhouse study compared to a lower application of 100,000 kg ha⁻¹. This indicates that there may be an upper limit at which biochar is beneficial for improving seedling establishment and growth.

3.5 Tables

udupted nom Eld 20	10.							
		(%)			$(mg kg^{-1})$		(kg m^{-3})	
Substrate	TON	TOC	pН	NO ₃ -	$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	Р	BD	Texture
unconsolidated geological subsoil material	$0.05 \\ (0.02)^*$	2.4 (1.4)	8.1	10.7	1.34	0.58	n/a	clay loam
Biochar	1.3	56	7.3	n/a	n/a	n/a	232	n/a

Table 3-1: Soil characteristics (mean (SD)) of subsoil material found at Whitewood mine, adapted from Liu 2015.

TON = total organic nitrogen; TOC = total organic carbon; NO_3^- = nitrate; NH_4^+ = ammonium; P = phosphorus; BD = dry bulk density; n/a = data not available.

*Standard deviation only available for TON and TOC

Table 3-2: Shoot mass ratio (SMR) and root to shoot ratio (RSR) (mean (SD)) of aspen seedlings in the biochar and no biochar treatments. Letters indicate statically significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) (n = 5).

Treatment	SMR	RSR
Biochar	0.34 (0.03) a	1.51 (0.20) b
No biochar	0.32 (0.03) b	1.69 (0.24) a

3.6 Figures



Figure 3-1: Location and orientation of research blocks (1-5) within the Whitewood coal mine. Circles represent the location of the EM50 data loggers (Decagon Devices Inc., Pullman, Washington, USA) with 5TM sensors at 10 and 30 cm soil depth. The background picture was adjusted from Google Earth (July 2018). The figure to the right represents the experimental layout for one of the five blocks (0.5 ha). The treatments are unamended control (C), biochar only (B), fertilizer only (low rate equiv. 50 kg N ha⁻¹; FL), fertilizer only (high rate equiv. 100 kg N ha⁻¹; FH), combined biochar and low rate fertilizer (BFL) and combined biochar and high rate fertilizer (BFH).


Figure 3-2: Plant available nitrate (μ g 10 cm⁻² 8 weeks burial period⁻¹) for the treatments with and without biochar. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm 1 SEM) (n = 5). Letters indicate significant treatment effects (α = 0.05).



Figure 3-3: Aspen height growth (cm) between 2012 and 2014 across all treatments. Error bars are one standard error of the mean (± 1 SEM) (n = 5). Letters indicate significant treatment effects ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 3-4: Aspen height growth (cm) between 2012 and 2014 for the treatments without fertilizer, fertilizer only (low rate equiv. 50 kg N ha⁻¹), fertilizer only (high rate equiv. 100 kg N ha⁻¹). Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm 1 SEM) (n = 5). Letters indicate significant treatment effects (α = 0.05).



Figure 3-5: Aspen height in 2014 for the treatments without fertilizer, fertilizer only (low rate equiv. 50 kg N ha⁻¹), fertilizer only (high rate equiv. 100 kg N ha⁻¹). Error bars are one standard error of the mean (\pm 1 SEM) (n = 5). Letters indicate significant treatment effects (α = 0.05).

Chapter 4 - General Discussion and Conclusions

4.1 Research summary

The main objective of my thesis was to explore the effects of different reclamation substrates. placement techniques and soil amendments on seedling development and edaphic properties in forest reclamation following surface mining. In my first study I looked at the impact of (1) various cover soil materials, (2) cover soil thickness, (3) the subsoil material type, and (4) total capping depth on early (first three years after planting) seedling survival, height growth and foliar nutrients of three common boreal upland tree species, as well as the impact of these different soil capping treatments on physical and chemical soil properties in an oil sands mine reclamation project. The results of this study revealed that the topsoil material type was the main driver for the observed differences in seedling growth during the early establishment phase. Aspen and pine seedlings, as the faster growing, early successional species performed much better when growing on FFM than the thick peat layer (30 cm). Spruce, however, as a slower growing and considered later successional species did not show any preferences. The main factors restricting seedling growth in the 30cm thick peat were likely the high moisture content and low soil temperature, as well as low phosphorus availability and high pH. The low soil temperatures associated with the 30 cm peat thickness were likely due to the insulating properties of peat which is highly porous and has a low thermal conductivity once it dries out near the surface in combination with high moisture content at greater depth. Accordingly, seedlings from all three species grew less on the 30 cm peat cover, when compared to the 10 cm thickness. An analysis of leaf and needle tissues revealed that the two contrasting topsoil materials affected foliar nutrient concentrations in aspen and spruce, but not in pine. This was probably a consequence of the varying nutrient availabilities in the different topsoil materials and the different nutrient requirements of the species. I was also able to demonstrate that all three species showed nutrient deficiencies on both materials. Moreover, the form of nutrient deficiency varied by species. Subsoil material and total capping depth had only little effect on seedling growth at this early stage of regeneration, with only larger aspen seedlings responding to subsoil conditions and deeper total soil cappings. Overall, aspen appears to be the species most sensitive to the treatments I tested, while spruce was least responsive to the treatments.

It should be noted that I only observed the first three years of forest development. It remains unclear how the different soil materials will affect seedling growth performance in the long-term as soil development progresses.

In my second study I investigated the impact of (1) biochar, (2) fertilizer and (3) the combination of both as amendments to an unconsolidated mineral soil material on seedling establishment and development, as well as soil water and nutrient availability in a reclamation project, which was lacking suitable topsoil material. The results of this study suggest that fertilization increased seedling height after three growing seasons, while biochar or the combination of biochar and fertilizer did not show the expected cumulative effects on seedling development. However, biochar reduced the amount of plant available nitrate, which was likely absorbed and immobilized by the biochar material due to its high C:N ratio. Biochar also likely increased soil moisture and thus might have reduced seedling mortality.

Compared to other studies, I added a relatively low amount of biochar to the soil (1670 kg ha⁻¹), which may have been the main limitation of this experiment. For comparison, other studies used rates between 8000 (Asai et al. 2009) and 200,000 kg ha⁻¹ (Kammann et al. 2011) of biochar in order to improve plant growth. Moreover, the low degree of ground vegetation cover, combined with high wind and water erosion, as well as surface application of the fertilizer likely caused a significant loss of biochar and fertilizer early in the study. This probably explains the limited effects I detected. I suspect, that had we used more biochar, the positive effect of the biochar would have been more pronounced.

In combination, the two studies I conducted showed that, both available soil materials containing OM (e.g. FFM and peat) as well as soil amendments from external sources (e.g. biochar and fertilizer) can be used to promote seedling growth and establishment by increasing nutrient and water availability. However, it is important to understand the specific physical and chemical soil properties associated with each material so they can be applied in adequate amounts to ensure fast seedling growth and low mortality. Low mortality and steady seedling growth are, of course, highly desirable as they are an indicator of successful reforestation (Macdonald et al. 2015).

4.2 Management implications and further research

The results of my research illustrate that the addition of soil materials and amendments containing OM can promote seedling growth and development by improving soil physical and chemical properties of unconsolidated mineral soil materials commonly found on mine reclamation sites. Based on my findings, as well as findings from studies conducted by Greene et al. (2007), Gewehr et al. (2014) and Lafleur et al. (2015), I suggest not using a thick layer of pure peat as a cover soil material. Greene et al. (2007), Grwehr et al. (2014) and Lafleur et al. (2015) suggest that peat accumulation greater than 25 cm could lead to waterlogged conditions, low nitrogen availability and soil temperatures and thus affect seedling survival and development negatively. Instead, I suggest to use a mixture of peat and mineral soil material (peat mineral mix) as the higher mineral content may counter some of the adverse effects (low soil temperature and excessive soil moisture) observed in this study.

When using FFM, I recommend a thinner cover soil thickness, as my findings showed that increasing FFM thickness did not result in better seedling growth. By using a thinner FFM layer this valuable material could be used to reclaim a larger area. Jones (2016) also did not find any additional benefits of using a thicker FFM cover with respect to the emergence of ground vegetation from the propagule bank. However, further research is needed to study the long-term effects of the different soil materials and thicknesses on tree growth. For example, the very high moisture content associated with the thick peat layer, may slow down growth initially, but may become a positive trait as the trees mature and water uptake increases.

I also recommend using foliar nutrient analysis as a tool to detect nutrient deficiencies, which could then be addressed through targeted fertilization.

When considering to use biochar as a soil amendment to improve seedling growth on unconsolidated mineral soil material I recommend a much higher application rate than we used in this study. Biochar has been shown to improve soil properties in a number of studies (Kammann et al. 2011; Robertson et al. 2012; Jones et al. 2012; Omil et al. 2013). However, in our case the application rate was likely too low to result in increased seedling growth. It is also important to take erosion into consideration when using biochar and to avoid using biochar on erosion prone slopes. Future studies on the effects of biochar and fertilizer could examine if the beneficial effect of added biochar might have been increased by presoaking the material in a fertilizer solution, or directly applying the fertilizer to the root system rather than broadcasting the fertilizer onto the soil surface.

References

- Asai H, Samson BK, Stephan HM, et al (2009) Biochar amendment techniques for upland rice production in Northern Laos. 1. Soil physical properties, leaf SPAD and grain yield. F Crop Res 111:81–84. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.10.008
- Atkinson CJ, Fitzgerald JD, Hipps NA (2010) Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: a review. Plant Soil 337:1–18. doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0464-5
- Audet P, Pinno BD, Thiffault E (2015) Reclamation of boreal forest after oil sands mining : anticipating novel challenges in novel environments. Can J For Res 45:364–371 . doi: dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2014-0330
- Beasse M (2011) Microbial communities in organic substrates used for oil sands reclamation and their link to boreal seedling growth, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Beesley L, Moreno-Jiménez E, Gomez-Eyles JL, et al (2011) A review of biochars' potential role in the remediation, revegetation and restoration of contaminated soils. Environ Pollut 159:3269–3282 . doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.07.023
- Bélanger N, Coté B, Fyles JW, et al (2004) Forest regrowth as the controlling factor of soil nutrient availability 75 years after fire in a deciduous forest of Southern Quebec. Plant Soil 262:363–272. doi: 10.1023/B:PLSO.0000037054.21561.85
- Berg B, Laskowski R (2005) Origin and Structure of Secondary Organic Matter and Sequestration of C and N. Adv Ecol Res 38:185–226 . doi: 10.1016/S0065-2504(05)38006-8
- Binkley D, Fisher RF (2013) Nutrition Management. In: Ecology and Management of Forest Soils, 4th edn. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., pp 254–275
- Black RA, Bliss LC (1980) Reproductive Ecology of Picea Mariana (Mill.) BSP., at Tree Line Near Inuvik, Northwest Territories, Canada. Ecol Monogr 50:331–354. doi: 10.2307/2937255
- Bockstette S (2017) Roots in reconstructed soils how land reclamation practices affect the development of tree root systems, PhD. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Bockstette SW, Pinno BD, Dyck MF, Landhäusser SM (2017) Root competition, not soil compaction, restricts access to soil resources for aspen on a reclaimed mine soil. Botany cjb-2016-0301 . doi: 10.1139/cjb-2016-0301
- Bodlák L, Křováková K, Kobesová M, et al (2012) SOC content—An appropriate tool for evaluating the soil quality in a reclaimed post-mining landscape. Ecol Eng 43:53–59 . doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2011.07.013
- Boelter DH (1966) Important Physical Properties of Peat Materials. Proceedings, third Int peat

Congr 150-154 . doi: 10.1.1.628.9973

- Böhlenius H, Övergaard R, Asp H (2016) Growth response of hybrid aspen (Populus × wettsteinii) and Populus trichocarpa to different pH levels and nutrient availabilities. Can J For Res 46:1367–1374. doi: 10.1139/cjfr-2016-0146
- Bonan G, Shugart HH (1989) Environmental Factors And Ecological Processes In Boreal Forests. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 20:1–28 . doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.20.1.1
- Bonan GB (1989) Environmental factors and ecological processes controlling vegetation patterns in boreal forests. Landsc Ecol 3:111–130 . doi: 10.1007/BF00131174
- Bourke J, Manley-Harris M, Fushimi C, et al (2007) Do all carbonized charcoals have the same chemical structure? 2. A model of the chemical structure of carbonized charcoal. Ind Eng Chem Res 46:5954–5967 . doi: 10.1021/ie070415u
- Bowen DG (1996) Soil temperature, root growth and plant function. In: Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U (eds) Plant Roots-the Hidden Half. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, pp 309–330
- Brandt JP (2009) The extent of the North American boreal zone. Environ Rev 17:101–161 . doi: 10.1139/A09-004
- Brandt JP, Flannigan MD, Maynard DG, et al (2013) An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environ Rev 21:207– 226. doi: 10.1139/er-2013-0040
- Břendová K, Tlustoš P, Száková J, Habart J (2012) Biochar Properties From Different Materials of Plant Origin. Eur Chem Bull 1:535–539. doi: 10.17628/ECB.2012.1.535
- Brocke LK, Chymco N (1991) The Whitewood Mine Lake Construction Project. In: Proceedings of the 15th Annual British Columbia Mine Reclamation Symposium. pp 234–248
- Brouder SM, Volenec JJ (2008) Impact of climate change on crop nutrient and water use efficiencies. Physiol Plant 133:705–724 . doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2008.01136.x
- Burger J a., Zipper CE (2011) How to Restore Forests on Surface-Mined Land. Virginia Coop Ext Serv 460:1–20
- Burger J, Graves D, Angel P, et al (2005) The Forestry Reclamation Approach. In: Forest Reclamation Advisory No. 2
- Burton P, Macdonald S (2011) The restorative imperative: challenges, objectives and approaches to restoring naturalness in forests. Silva Fenn 45:843–863 . doi: 10.14214/sf.74
- Chan KY, Van Zwieten L, Meszaros I, et al (2007) Agronomic values of greenwaste biochar as a soil amendment. Aust J Soil Res 45:629 . doi: 10.1071/SR07109
- Chapin III FS (1977) Temperature compensation in phosphate absorption occuring over diverse time scales. Arct Alp Res 9:139–148

- Chmura DJ, Modrzyński J, Chmielarz P, Tjoelker MG (2017) Plasticity in seedling morphology, biomass allocation and physiology among ten temperate tree species in response to shade is related to shade tolerance and not leaf habit. Plant Biol 19:172–182. doi: 10.1111/plb.12531
- Cooper AJ (1973) Root temperature and plant growth-A review. In: Research Review No 4 Commonwealth Bureau of Horticulture and Plantation Crops. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, Wallingford, U.K.
- Cooperband L (2002) Building Soil Organic Matter with Organic Amendments. University of Wisconsin-Madison, Center of Integrated Agricultural Systems, Madison, WI
- Coyne M, Thompson J (2006) Fundamental soil science. Thomson Delmar Learning, New York
- Dan T, Zhong-Yi Q, Mang-Mang G, et al (2015) Experimental Study of Influence of Biochar on Different Texture Soil Hydraulic Characteristic Parameters and Moisture Holding Properties. Polish J Environ Stud 24:1435–1442
- Davies R, Hodgkinson R, Younger A, Chapman R (1995) Nitrogen Loss from a Soil Restored after Surface Mining. J Environ Qual 24:1215 . doi: 10.2134/jeq1995.00472425002400060023x
- DesRochers A, Driessche R Van Den, Thomas BR (2003) Nitrogen fertilization of trembling aspen seedlings grown on soils of different pH. Can J For Res 33:552–560. doi: 10.1139/x02-191
- Ding Y, Liu Y, Liu S, et al (2017) Potential Benefits of Biochar in Agricultural Soils: A Review. Pedosphere 27:645–661 . doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60375-8
- Ding Y, Liu YX, Wu WX, et al (2010) Evaluation of biochar effects on nitrogen retention and leaching in multi-layered soil columns. Water Air Soil Pollut 213:47–55 . doi: 10.1007/s11270-010-0366-4
- Dong S, Scagel CF, Cheng L, et al (2001) Soil temperature and plant growth stage influence nitrogen uptake and amino acid concentration of apple during early spring growth. Tree Physiol 21:541–547
- Ericsson T (1995) Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. Plant Soil 168–169:205–214 . doi: 10.1007/BF00029330
- Fan Z, Moore J a, Shafii B, Osborne HL (2002) Three-Year Response of Ponderosa Pine Seedlings to Controlled-Release Fertilizer Applied at Planting. West J Appl For 17:154–164
- Fellet G, Marchiol L, Delle Vedove G, Peressotti a. (2011) Application of biochar on mine tailings: Effects and perspectives for land reclamation. Chemosphere 83:1262–1267 . doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.03.053
- Fitzgerald S (2010) Chapter 2 Ecology of Quaking Aspen. In: Land Manager's Guide to Aspen Management in Oregon. pp 3–7

- Fleming M, Fleming I, Headley J, et al (2012) Surficial bitumen in the Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta, Canada. Int J Mining, Reclam Environ 26:134–147. doi: 10.1080/17480930.2011.570098
- Frey BR, Lieffers VJ, Landhäusser SM, et al (2003) An analysis of sucker regeneration of trembling aspen. Can. J. For. Res. 33:1169–1179
- Frouz J, Pižl V, Cienciala E, Kalčík J (2009) Carbon storage in post-mining forest soil, the role of tree biomass and soil bioturbation. Biogeochemistry 94:111–121 . doi: 10.1007/s10533-009-9313-0
- Frouz J, Prach K, Pižl V, et al (2008) Interactions between soil development, vegetation and soil fauna during spontaneous succession in post mining sites. Eur J Soil Biol 44:109–121 . doi: 10.1016/j.ejsobi.2007.09.002
- Fung M, Macyk TM (2000) Reclamation of oil sands mining areas. In: Barnhisel R et al. (2000): Reclamation of drastically disturbed lands, 2nd ed. Madison, WI, pp 755–774
- Gaskin JW, Speir A, Morris LM, et al (2007) Potential for Pyrolysis Char To Affect Soil Moisture and Nutrient Status of a Loamy Sand Soil. In: Proceedings of the 2007 Georgia Water Resources Conference, March 27–29, the University of Georgia. pp 1–3
- Gaster J, Karst J, Landhäusser SM (2015) The role of seedling nutrient status on development of ectomycorrhizal fungal communities in two soil types following surface mining disturbance. Pedobiologia (Jena) 58:129–135 . doi: 10.1016/j.pedobi.2015.07.001
- Gewehr S, Drobyshev I, Berninger F, Bergeron Y (2014) Soil characteristics mediate the distribution and response of boreal trees to climatic variability. Can J For Res Can Rech For 44:487–498 . doi: 10.1139/cjfr-2013-0481
- Government of Alberta (1993) Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act: Conservation and Reclamation with amendments up to and including Alberta Regulation 130/2013 Alberta Regulation 115/1993
- Government of Canada (2016) Canadian Climate Normals [online]. Available from http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/index_e.html [accessed May 2016].
- Government of Canada (2018) Canadian Climate Normals [online]. Available from http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html [accessed July 2018]
- Greene DF, Macdonald SE, Haeussler S, et al (2007) The reduction of organic-layer depth by wildfire in the North American boreal forest and its effect on tree recruitment by seed. Can J For Res 37:1012–1023 . doi: 10.1139/X06-245
- Gruenthal P (1999) Tired Soil: Using Inorganic Soil Amendments to Perk up Your Root Zone. Sport Turf Manag 8–11
- Güsewell S (2004) N:P ratios in terrestrial plants: variarion and functional significance. New

Phytol 164:243–266 . doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01192.x

- Hahn AS, Quideau SA (2013) Long-term effects of organic amendments on the recovery of plant and soil microbial communities following disturbance in the Canadian boreal forest. Plant Soil 363:331–344 . doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1306-4
- Haigh MJ (1992) Problems in the reclamation of coal-mine disturbed lands in Wales. Int J Surf Mining, Reclam Environ 6:31–37. doi: 10.1080/09208119208944313
- Hankin SL (2015) Native tree seedling interaction with variations in edaphic properties in upland boreal forest restoration, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Harris J a., Birch P, Short KC (1989) Changes in the microbial community and physico-chemical characteristics of topsoils stockpiled during opencast mining. Soil Use Manag 5:161–168 . doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.1989.tb00778.x
- Harris JA, Birch P, Short KC (1993) The Impact of Storage of Soils during Opencast Mining on the Microbial Community: A Strategist Theory Interpretation. Restor Ecol 1:88–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-100X.1993.tb00014.x
- Hayward PM, Clymo RS (1982) Profiles of Water Content and Pore Size in Sphagnum and Peat, and their Relation to Peat Bog Ecology. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 215:299–325 . doi: 10.1098/rspb.1982.0044
- Hazelton PA, Murphy BW (2016a) Soil Physical Properties. In: Interpreting Soil Test Results : What Do All the Numbers Mean?, Third edit. CSIRO PUBLISHING., Clayton, South VIC, Australia, pp 5–29
- Hazelton PA, Murphy BW (2016b) Soil Chemical Properties. In: Interpreting Soil Test Results : What Do All the Numbers Mean?, Third edit. CSIRO PUBLISHING., Clayton, South VIC, Australia, pp 73–124
- Hogberg JI (2017) An Alternate Indicator System for Nutrient Supply as Part of Ecosystem Function, a Componenet of Reclamation Success in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Hudson A (2013) Whitewood Mine lands reclaimed in Parkland County. Spruce Grove Exam.
- Hunt R (1975) Further Observations on Root—Shoot Equilibria in Perennial Ryegrass (Lolium perenne L.). Ann Bot 39:745–755
- IBM Corp. (2011) IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0
- Ingestad T, Agren GI (1991) The Influence of Plant Nutrition on Biomass Allocation. Ecol Appl 1:168–174 . doi: 10.2307/1941809
- Islam MA, Macdonald SE (2005) Effects of variable nitrogen fertilization on growth, gas exchange, and biomass partitioning in black spruce and tamarack seedlings. Can J Bot 83:1574–1580. doi: 10.1139/b05-123

- Jacobs DF, Oliet JA, Aronson J, et al (2015) Restoring forests: What constitutes success in the twenty-first century? New For 46:601–614 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-015-9513-5
- Jeffery S, Verheijen FGA, van der Velde M, Bastos AC (2011) A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agric Ecosyst Environ 144:175–187 . doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.08.015
- Jenkins RO (2013) Uptake of nutrients by roots. In: The role of plant roots in crop production. Boca Raton: CRC Press, pp 55–122
- Jenny H (1994) Factors of soil formation: A system of quantitative pedology. Dover Publications Inc., New York
- Johnson DB, Williamson JC, Bailey AJ (1991) Microbiology of soils at opencast coal sites. I. Short-and long-term transformations in stockpiled soils. J Soil Sci 42:1–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2389.1991.tb00085.x
- Jones CE (2016) Early Vegetation Community Development and Dispersal in Upland Boreal Forest Reclamation, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton
- Jones DL, Rousk J, Edwards-Jones G, et al (2012) Biochar-mediated changes in soil quality and plant growth in a three year field trial. Soil Biol Biochem 45:113–124 . doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.10.012
- Kammann CI, Linsel S, Gößling JW, Koyro HW (2011) Influence of biochar on drought tolerance of Chenopodium quinoa Willd and on soil-plant relations. Plant Soil 345:195–210 . doi: 10.1007/s11104-011-0771-5
- Karhu K, Mattila T, Bergström I, Regina K (2011) Biochar addition to agricultural soil increased CH4 uptake and water holding capacity - Results from a short-term pilot field study. Agric Ecosyst Environ 140:309–313 . doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2010.12.005
- Karst J, Landhäusser SM (2014) Low soil temperatures increase carbon reserves in Picea mariana and Pinus contorta. Ann For Sci 71:371–380. doi: 10.1007/s13595-013-0344-2
- Keiluweit M, Nico PS, Johnson MG, Kleber M (2010) Dynamic molecular structure of plant biomass-derived black carbon. Environ Sci Technol 44:1247–1253 . doi: 10.1021/es9031419
- Kessler S, Barbour SL, van Rees KCJ, Dobchuk BS (2010) Salinization of soil over saline-sodic overburden from the oil sands in Alberta. Can J Soil Sci 90:637–647 . doi: 10.4141/cjss10019
- Koch JM, Ward SC, Grant CD, Ainsworth GL (1996) Effects of Bauxite Mine Restoration Operations on Topsoil Seed Reserves in the Jarrah Forest of Western Australia. Restor Ecol 4:368–376 . doi: 10.1111/j.1526-100X.1996.tb00189.x
- Koerselman W, Meuleman A (1996) The vegetation N: P ratio: a new tool to detect the nature of nutrient limitation. J Appl Ecol 33:1441–1450 . doi: 10.2307/2404783

- Korbas T (2013) Degradation And Mobility of Petrolium Hydrocarbons in Oilsand Waste at the AURORA Fort Hills Disposal Area, MSc. University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK
- Kulbaba SP (2014) Evaluating trembling aspen seedling stock characteristics in response to drought and out-planting on a reclamation site, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Lafleur B, Cazal A, Leduc A, Bergeron Y (2015) Soil organic layer thickness influences the establishment and growth of trembling aspen (Populus tremuloides) in boreal forests. For Ecol Manage 347:209–216 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.03.031
- Laine J, Simoni S, Calles R (1991) Preparation of activated carbon from coconut shell in a small scale cocurrent flow rotary kiln. Chem Eng Commun 99:15–23 . doi: 10.1080/00986449108911575
- Land Resource Network, Land Resource Network Ltd. (1993) Organic Material as Soil Amendment in Reclamation: A Review of the Literature. Alberta Conservation and Reclamation Council, Reclamation Research Technical Advisory Committee
- Landhäusser SM, DesRochers A, Lieffers VJ (2001) A comparison of growth and physiology in *Picea glauca* and *Populus tremuloides* at different soil temperatures. Can J For Res 31:1922–1929 . doi: 10.1139/cjfr-31-11-1922
- Landhäusser SM, Rodriguez-Alvarez J, Marenholtz EH, Lieffers VJ (2012) Effect of stock type characteristics and time of planting on field performance of aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) seedlings on boreal reclamation sites. New For 43:679–693 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-012-9346-4
- Landhäusser SM, Silins U, Lieffers VJ, Liu W (2003) Response of Populus tremuloides, Populus balsamifera, Betula papyrifera and Picea glauce Seedlings to Low Soil Temperature and Water-logged Soil Conditions. Scand J For Res 18:391–400 . doi: 10.1080/02827580310015044
- Landhäusser SM, Wein RW, Lange P (1996) Gas exchange and growth of three arctic tree-line tree species under different soil temperature and drought preconditioning regimes. Can J Bot 74:686–693 . doi: 10.1139/b96-087
- Larchevêque M, Desrochers A, Bussière B, Cimon D (2014) Planting Trees in Soils above Non-Acid-Generating Wastes of a Boreal Gold Mine. Ecoscience 21:217–231 . doi: 10.2980/21-(3-4)-3697
- Larney FJ, Akinremi OO, Lemke RL, et al (2005) Soil responses to topsoil replacement depth and organic amendments in wellsite reclamation. Can J Soil Sci 85:307–317 . doi: 10.4141/S04-035
- Larney FJ, Angers D a. (2012) The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: A review. Can J Soil Sci 92:19–38 . doi: 10.4141/cjss2010-064

Lehmann J, Joseph S (2009) Biochar for environmental management – Science and technology.

Earthscan, London, UK and Sterling, USA

- Lehmann J, Rillig MC, Thies J, et al (2011) Biochar effects on soil biota A review. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1812–1836 . doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.04.022
- Lewis SA, Wu JQ, Robichaud PR (2006) Assessing burn severity and comparing soil water repellency, Hayman Fire, Colorado. Hydrol Process 20:1–16 . doi: 10.1002/hyp.5880
- Li Y, Hu S, Chen J, et al (2018) Effects of biochar application in forest ecosystems on soil properties and greenhouse gas emissions: a review. J Soils Sediments 18:546–563 . doi: 10.1007/s11368-017-1906-y
- Liang H, Chang SX (2004) Response of trembling and hybrid aspens to phosphorus and sulfur fertilization in a Gray Luvisol: growth and nutrient uptake. Can J For Res 34:1391–1399. doi: 10.1139/x04-022
- Liu J (2014) The application of biochar as a soil amendment in land reclamation, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Lopushinsky W, Max T a. (1990) Effect of soil temperature on root and shoot growth and on budburst timing in conifer seedling transplants. New For 4:107–124 . doi: 10.1007/BF00119004
- Lwin CS, Seo B, Kim H, et al (2018) Application of soil amendments to contaminated soils for heavy metal immobilization and improved soil quality—a critical review. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 64:156–167 . doi: 10.1080/00380768.2018.1440938
- Macdonald E, Quideau S, Landhausser S (2012) Rebuilding boreal forest ecosystems after industrial disturbance. In: Restoration and Reclamation of Boreal Ecosystems: Attaining Sustainable Development. pp 123–160
- Macdonald SE, Landhäusser SM, Skousen J, et al (2015) Forest restoration following surface mining disturbance: challenges and solutions. New For 46:703–732 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-015-9506-4
- Mackenzie DD, Naeth MA (2010) The role of the forest soil propagule bank in assisted natural recovery after oil sands mining. Restor Ecol 18:418–427 . doi: 10.1111/j.1526-100X.2008.00500.x
- MacKenzie MD, McIntire EJB, Quideau S a., Graham RC (2008) Charcoal Distribution Affects Carbon and Nitrogen Contents in Forest Soils of California. Soil Sci Soc Am J 72:1774. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2007.0363
- MacKenzie MDD, Quideau S a. a. (2010) Laboratory-based nitrogen mineralization and biochemistry of two soils used in oil sands reclamation. Can J Soil Sci 44:131–142 . doi: 10.4141/cjss2010-070
- McConnaughay KDM, Bazzaz FA (1991) Is Physical Space a Soil Resource? Ecology 72:94– 103 . doi: 10.2307/1938905

- McCormick LH, Amendola FA (1983) Soil pH, extractable aluminum and tree growth on acid minesoils. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 14:249–262 . doi: 10.1080/00103628309367360
- McDonald AJS, Ericsson T, Larsson C-M (1996) Plant nutrition, dry matter gain and partitioning at the whole-plant level. J Exp Bot 47:1245–1253 . doi: 10.1093/jxb/47.Special Issue.1245
- McDonough WT (1979) Quaking aspen seed germination and early seedling growth. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Ogden, Utah
- McMillan R, Quideau S a, MacKenzie MD, Biryukova O (2007) Nitrogen mineralization and microbial activity in oil sands reclaimed boreal forest soils. J Environ Qual 36:1470–1478 . doi: 10.2134/jeq2006.0530
- Monnier Y, Bousquet-Mélou A, Vila B, et al (2013) How nutrient availability influences acclimation to shade of two (pioneer and late-successional) Mediterranean tree species? Eur J For Res 132:325–333 . doi: 10.1007/s10342-012-0677-7
- Moore J a., Fan Z, Shafii B (2002) Effect of root-plug incorporated controlled release fertilizer on two year growth and survival of planted ponderosa pine seedlings. West J Appl 17:216–219 . doi: 10.1093/wjaf/17.4.216
- Mukherjee A, Zimmerman AR (2013) Organic carbon and nutrient release from a range of laboratory-produced biochars and biochar-soil mixtures. Geoderma 193–194:122–130. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.10.002
- Mukherjee A, Zimmerman AR, Harris W (2011) Surface chemistry variations among a series of laboratory-produced biochars. Geoderma 163:247–255. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.04.021
- Mulcahy DN, Mulcahy DL, Dietz D (2013) Biochar soil amendment increases tomato seedling resistance to drought in sandy soils. J Arid Environ 88:222–225 . doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.07.012
- Müller I, Schmid B, Weiner J (2000) The effect of nutrient availability on biomass allocation patterns in 27 species of herbaceous plants. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 3:115–127 . doi: 10.1078/1433-8319-00007
- Naeth MA, Wilkinson SR, Mackenzie DD, et al (2013) Potential of LFH Mineral Soil Mixes for Reclamation of Forested Lands in Alberta. Oil Sands Research and Information Network, University of Alberta, School of Energy and the Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-35. 64 pp, Edmonton
- Natural Regions Committee (2006) Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta. Compiled by D.J. Downing and W.W. Pettapiece. Government of Alberta. Pub. No. T/852.
- NRCAN (2017) 8 facts about Canada's boreal forest. [accessed: August 2018]
- Nyle CB, Weil R (2004) Elements of the nature and properties of soils, 3rd ed. Pearson Educational International, Boston

- Oil Sands Vegetation Reclamation Committee (1998) Guidelines for Reclamation to Forest Vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands region. ISBN 0-7785-0411-5
- Ojekanmi AA, Chang SX (2014) Soil Quality Assessment for Peat–Mineral Mix Cover Soil Used in Oil Sands Reclamation. J Environ Qual 43:1566 . doi: 10.2134/jeq2014.02.0061
- Omil B, Piñeiro V, Merino A (2013) Soil and tree responses to the application of wood ash containing charcoal in two soils with contrasting properties. For Ecol Manage 295:199–212 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.01.024
- Omondi MO, Xia X, Nahayo A, et al (2016) Quantification of biochar effects on soil hydrological properties using meta-analysis of literature data. Geoderma 274:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.03.029
- Ouyang L, Wang F, Tang J, et al (2013) Effects of biochar amendment on soil aggregates and hydraulic properties. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 13:991–1002 . doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0180
- Paragon Soil and Environment Consulting Inc. (2006) Hydrocarbons in Natural Oil Sands Soil: Field Survey. Cummulative Environmental Management Association, Fort McMurray, AB
- Pearsall WH (1923) Studies in Growth. IV. Correlations in Development. Ann Bot os-37:261–275 . doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a089845
- Peng YY, Dang Q (2003) Effects of soil temperature on biomass production and allocation in seedlings of four boreal tree species. For Ecol Manage 180:1–9
- Peterson EB, Peterson NM (1992) Ecology, management, and use of aspen and balsam poplar in the prairie provinces, Canada. For Canada, Northwest Reg For Cent 1–270
- Pickell PD, Andison DW, Coops NC (2013) Characterizations of anthropogenic disturbance patterns in the mixedwood boreal forest of Alberta, Canada. For Ecol Manage 304:243–253 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.04.031
- Pietikäinen J, Kiikkilä O, Fritze H (2000) Charcoal as a habitat for microbes and its effect on the microbial community of the underlying humus. Oikos 89:231–242 . doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.890203.x
- Pinno BD, Errington RC (2015) Maximizing natural trembling aspen seedling establishment on a reclaimed boreal oil sands site. Ecol Restor 33:43–50
- Pinno BD, Landhäusser SM, MacKenzie MD, et al (2012) Trembling aspen seedling establishment, growth and response to fertilization on contrasting soils used in oil sands reclamation. Can J Soil Sci 92:143–151 . doi: 10.4141/cjss2011-004
- Pluchon N, Gundale MJ, Nilsson MC, et al (2014) Stimulation of boreal tree seedling growth by wood-derived charcoal: Effects of charcoal properties, seedling species and soil fertility. Funct Ecol 28:766–775 . doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12221

Prober SM, Stol J, Piper M, et al (2014) Enhancing soil biophysical condition for climate-

resilient restoration in mesic woodlands. Ecol Eng 71:246–255 . doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.07.019

- Quideau S a., Gupta S Das, MacKenzie MD, Landhäusser SM (2013) Microbial Response to Fertilization in Contrasting Soil Materials used during Oil Sands Reclamation. Soil Sci Soc Am J 77:145–154 . doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0202
- Quilliam RS, Glanville HC, Wade SC, Jones DL (2013) Life in the "charosphere" Does biochar in agricultural soil provide a significant habitat for microorganisms? Soil Biol Biochem 65:287–293 . doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.06.004
- Raave H, Keres I, Kauer K, et al (2014) The impact of activated carbon on NO 3 -N, NH 4 + -N, P and K leaching in relation to fertilizer use. Eur J Soil Sci 65:120–127 . doi: 10.1111/ejss.12102
- R Core Team (2014) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/. R. [accessed: June 2017]
- Rahgozar MA, Saberian M (2016) Physical and chemical properties of two Iranian peat types. Mires Peat 16:1–17
- Rajan K, Natarajan A, Kumar KSA (2010) Soil organic carbon the most reliable indicator for monitoring land degradation by soil erosion. Curr Sci 99:823–828
- Raveendran K, Ganesh A, Khilar KC (1995) Influence of mineral matter on biomass pyrolysis characteristics. Fuel 74:1812–1822 . doi: 10.1016/0016-2361(95)80013-8
- Retan GA (1915) Charcoal as a means of solving some nursery problems. For Q 13:26–30
- Rezanezhad F, Quinton WL, Price JS, et al (2010) Influence of pore size and geometry on peat unsaturated hydraulic conductivity computed from 3D computed tomography image analysis. Hydrol Process. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7709
- Robertson SJ, Rutherford PM, López-Gutiérrez JC, Massicotte HB (2012) Biochar enhances seedling growth and alters root symbioses and properties of sub-boreal forest soils. Can J Soil Sci 92:329–340. doi: 10.4141/cjss2011-066
- Rooney RC, Bayley SE, Schindler DW (2012) Oil sands mining and reclamation cause massive loss of peatland and stored carbon. Proc Natl Acad Sci 109:4933–4937 . doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117693108
- Runesson UT (2014) Boreal Forests an Overview. [accessed: August 2018]
- Saxton KE, Rawls WJ (2006) Soil Water Characteristic Estimates by Texture and Organic Matter for Hydrologic Solutions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:1569 . doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0117
- Schafer W, Nielsen G, Dollhopf D, Temple K (1979) Soil genesis, hydrological properties, root characteristics and microbial activity of 1-to 50-year old stripmine spoils. Cincinnati, Ohio

- Schott KM (2013) Production and outplanting success of nutrient-loaded aspen seedlings, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB
- Schott KM, Snively AEK, Landhäusser SM, Pinno BD (2016) Nutrient loaded seedlings reduce the need for field fertilization and vegetation management on boreal forest reclamation sites. New For 47:393–410 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-015-9522-4
- Scott H, Ponsonby D, Atkinson CJ (2014) Biochar: an improver of nutrient and soil water availability - what is the evidence? CAB Rev Perspect Agric Vet Sci Nutr Nat Resour 9:19. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20149019
- Sheoran V, Sheoran AS, Poonia P (2010) Soil Reclamation of Abandoned Mine Land by Revegetation : A Review. Int J Soil, Sediment Water 3:1–21
- Shipley B, Meziane D (2002) The balanced-growth hypothesis and the allometry of leaf and root biomass allocation. Funct Ecol 16:326–331 . doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2435.2002.00626.x
- Shukla RP, Ramakrishnan PS (1984) Biomass Allocation Strategies and Productivity of. For Ecol Manage 9:315–324
- Sika MP, Hardie AG (2014) Effect of pine wood biochar on ammonium nitrate leaching and availability in a South African sandy soil. Eur J Soil Sci 65:113–119 . doi: 10.1111/ejss.12082
- Singh B, Singh BP, Cowie AL (2010) Characterisation and evaluation of biochars for their application as a soil amendment. Aust J Soil Res 48:516. doi: 10.1071/SR10058
- Singh BP, Cowie AL, Smernik RJ (2012) Biochar carbon stability in a clayey soil as a function of feedstock and pyrolysis temperature. Environ Sci Technol 46:11770–11778 . doi: 10.1021/es302545b
- Sizmur T, Sizmur T, Quilliam R, et al (2015) Application of Biochar for Soil Remediation. SSSA Spec Publ 63:30 . doi: 10.2136/sssaspecpub63.2014.0075
- Sloan JL, Jacobs DF (2013) Fertilization at planting influences seedling growth and vegetative competition on a post-mining boreal reclamation site. New For 44:687–701 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-013-9378-4
- Sohi SP, Krull E, Lopez-Capel E, Bol R (2010) A Review of Biochar and Its Use and Function in Soil. In: Advances in Agronomy. pp 47–82
- Soil Classification Working Group (1998) The Canadian System of Soil Classification, 3rd edn. NRC Research Press, Ottawa
- Soil Quality Working Group (2004) Soil Quality Criteria Relative to Disturbance and Reclamation. Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, AB
- Soucémarianadin LN, Quideau S a., MacKenzie MD, et al (2013) Laboratory charring conditions affect black carbon properties: A case study from Quebec black spruce forests. Org

Geochem 62:46-55 . doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2013.07.005

- Soucémarianadin LN, Quideau S a., MacKenzie MD, et al (2015) Total and pyrogenic carbon stocks in black spruce forest floors from eastern Canada. Org Geochem 82:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2015.02.004
- Spokas KA, Cantrell KB, Novak JM, et al (2012) Biochar: A Synthesis of Its Agronomic Impact beyond Carbon Sequestration. J Environ Qual 41:973 . doi: 10.2134/jeq2011.0069
- Suliman W, Harsh JB, Abu-Lail NI, et al (2016) Influence of feedstock source and pyrolysis temperature on biochar bulk and surface properties. Biomass and Bioenergy 84:37–48. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.11.010
- Swan HS. (1971) Relationships between nutrient supply, growth and nutrient concentrations in the foliage of white and red spruce. Pulp Paper Res. Inst. Can., Woodlands Rep. 29.
- Swan HS. (1972) Foliar nutrient concentrations in lodgepole pine as indicators of tree nutrient status and fertilizer requirement. Pulp Paper Res. Inst. Can., Woodlands Rep. 42
- Swanson DK, Schmitt CL, Shirley DM, et al (2010) Aspen Biology, Community Classification and Management in the Blue Mountains. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-806, Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 117 p
- Tang C, Cobley BT, Mokhtara S, et al (1993) High pH in the nutrient solution impairs water uptake in Lupinus angustifolius L. Plant Soil 155–156:517–519. doi: 10.1007/BF00025097
- Tessier JT, Raynal DJ (2003) Use of nitrogen to phosphorus ratios in plant tissue as an indicator of nutrient limitation and nitrogen saturation. J Appl Ecol 40:523–534 . doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2664.2003.00820.x
- Teβin A-K (2016) Biochar in soil : Effect on physical , chemical and hydrological properties in differently textured soils, MSc. Aarhus Universitet, Aarhus
- Thomas SC, Gale N (2015) Biochar and forest restoration: a review and meta-analysis of tree growth responses. New For 46:931–946 . doi: 10.1007/s11056-015-9491-7
- Thornley JHM (1972) A Balanced Quantitative Model for Root: Shoot Ratios in Vegetative Plants. Ann Bot 36:431–441 . doi: http://dx.doi.org/
- Troughton A (1956) Studies on the Growth of Young Grass Plants with Special Reference to the Relationship Between the Shoot and Root Systems. Grass Forage Sci 11:56–65 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1956.tb00048.x
- Tryon EH (1948) Effect of Charcoal on Certain Physical, Chemical, and Biological Properties of Forest Soils. Ecol Monogr 18:81–115 . doi: 10.2307/1948629
- Van den Burg J (1990) Foliar analysis for determination of tree nutrient status a compilation of literature data. Vol. 2: Literature 1985-1989. Wageningen (Netherlands): De Dorschkamp, 1985

- Van Den Driessche R (1978) Response of Douglas fir seedlings to nitrate and ammonium nitrogen sources at different levels of pH and iron supply. Plant Soil 49:607–623 . doi: 10.1007/BF02183285
- van den Driessche R, Niemi F, Charleson L (2005) Fourth year response of aspen seedlings to lime, nitrogen and phosphorus applied at planting and 1 year after planting. For Ecol Manage 219:216–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.08.047
- van den Driessche R, Rude W, Martens L (2003) Effect of fertilization and irrigation on growth of aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) seedlings over three seasons. For Ecol Manage 186:381–389 . doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00306-2
- Venier L a, Thompson ID, Fleming R, et al (2014) Effects of natural resource development on the terrestrial biodiversity of Canadian boreal forests. Environ Rev 490:457–490
- Verheijen FGA, Jeffery S, Bastos AC, et al (2009) Biochar Application to Soils A Critical Review of Effects on Soil Properties, Processes and Functions. EUR 24099 EN, Office for the Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg
- Vitousek PM, Howarth RW (1991) Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13:87–115 . doi: 10.1007/BF00002772
- Walker LR, del Moral R (2002) Primary Succession. Encycl Life Sci Sci 1-6
- Walker RF (2002) Response of Jeffrey Pine on a Surface Mine Site to Fertilizer and Lime. Restor Ecol 10:204–212 . doi: 10.1023/A:1021337321332
- Walker RF (2012) Promoting Forest Recovery on a Surface Mine Site With Nutritional Amendments. J Sustain For 31:798–817 . doi: 10.1080/10549811.2012.739957
- Walker RF (2008) Advancing forest cover development on a high-elevation Sierra Nevada mine site with nutritional amendments. Restor Ecol 16:486–494 . doi: 10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00322.x
- Wan X, Landhäusser S, Zwiazek J, Lieffers V (1999) Root water flow and growth of aspen (Populus tremuloides) at low root temperatures. Tree Physiol 19:879–884 . doi: 10.1093/treephys/19.13.879
- Wardle DA, Zackrisson O, Nilsson M-C (1998) The charcoal effect in Boreal forests: mechanisms and ecological consequences. Oecologia 115:419–426 . doi: 10.1007/s004420050536
- Weetman GF, Yang RC, Bella IE (1985) Nutrition and Fertilization of Lodgepole Pine. Publ North For Cent 225–232
- Wick AF, Stahl PD, Ingram LJ, Vicklund L (2009) Soil aggregation and organic carbon in short-term stockpiles. Soil Use Manag 25:311–319 . doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2009.00227.x
- Wilson A (2016) Effects of Biochar, Fertilizer and Shelter Treatments on the Vegetation

Development following Coal Mine Reclamation, MSc. University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB

- Wilson JB (1988) A Review of Evidence on the Control of Shoot: Root Ratio, in Relation to Models. Ann Bot 61:433–449. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a087575
- Wolken JM, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ, Dyck MF (2010) Differences in initial root development and soil conditions affect establishment of trembling aspen and balsam poplar seedlings. Botany 88:275–285 . doi: 10.1139/B10-016
- Wolken JM, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ, Silins U (2011) Seedling growth and water use of boreal conifers across different temperatures and near-flooded soil conditions. Can J For Res 41:2292–2300. doi: 10.1139/x11-136
- Yuan J-H, Xu R-K, Qian W, Wang R-H (2011) Comparison of the ameliorating effects on an acidic ultisol between four crop straws and their biochars. J Soils Sediments 11:741–750. doi: 10.1007/s11368-011-0365-0
- Zackrisson O, Nilsson M, Wardle D a (1996) Key Ecological Function of Charcoal from Wildfire in the Boreal Forest. Oikos 77:10 . doi: 10.2307/3545580
- Zhang W, Calvo-Polanco M, Chen ZC, Zwiazek JJ (2013) Growth and physiological responses of trembling aspen (Populus tremuloides), white spruce (Picea glauca) and tamarack (Larix laricina) seedlings to root zone pH. Plant Soil 373:775–786. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-1843-5
- Zhao L, Cao X, Mašek O, Zimmerman A (2013) Heterogeneity of biochar properties as a function of feedstock sources and production temperatures. J Hazard Mater 256–257:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.04.015
- Zipper CE, Burger J a., Skousen JG, et al (2011) Restoring Forests and Associated Ecosystem Services on Appalachian Coal Surface Mines. Environ Manage 47:751–765 . doi: 10.1007/s00267-011-9670-z
- Zipper CE, Burger JA, Barton CD, Skousen JG (2013) Rebuilding Soils on Mined Land for Native Forests in Appalachia. Soil Sci Soc Am J 77:337. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0335